Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect





Progress in Aerospace Sciences

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/paerosci

Bonded repair of composite aircraft structures: A review of scientific challenges and opportunities



K.B. Katnam^{a,*}, L.F.M. Da Silva^b, T.M. Young^a

^a Irish Centre for Composites Research (IComp), Materials and Surface Science Institute (MSSI), University of Limerick, Limerick, Ireland ^b Department of Mechanical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Porto, Rua Dr. Roberto Frias, 4200-465 Porto, Portugal

A R T I C L E I N F O Available online 23 April 2013

ABSTRACT

Advanced composite materials have gained popularity in high-performance structural designs such as aerospace applications that require lightweight components with superior mechanical properties in order to perform in demanding service conditions as well as provide energy efficiency. However, one of the major challenges that the aerospace industry faces with advanced composites – because of their inherent complex damage behaviour – is structural repair. Composite materials are primarily damaged by mechanical loads and/or environmental conditions. If material damage is not extensive, structural repair is the only feasible solution as replacing the entire component is not cost-effective in many cases. Bonded composite repairs (*e.g.* scarf patches) are generally preferred as they provide enhanced stress transfer mechanisms, joint efficiencies and aerodynamic performance. With an increased usage of advanced composites in primary and secondary aerospace structural components, it is thus essential to have robust, reliable and repeatable structural bonded repair procedures to restore damaged composite components. But structural bonded repair primary structures, pose several scientific challenges with the current existing repair technologies. In this regard, the area of structural bonded repair of composites is broadly reviewed – starting from damage assessment to automation – to identify current scientific challenges and future opportunities.

© 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

Keywords:

Composite materials

Bonded scarf repair

Surface preparation

Adhesive bonding

Non-destructive testing Composite machining

1.	Composite materials: Aerospace industry	27	
2.	Structural safety	27	
	2.1. Composite materials: Failure behaviour	27	
	2.2. Industry concerns	28	
3.	Structural composite repair.	28	
	3.1. Structural inspection	28	
	3.2. Structural repair	29	
	3.3. Aircraft MRO	29	
4. Bonded repair: Research areas			
5.	Damage assessment: Non-destructive testing	30	
	5.1 Ultrasonic techniques	31	
	5.2. Thermography	31	
	5.3. Shearography	31	
6.	Material removal: Composite machining	32	
	6.1. Conventional machining	32	
	6.2. Laser machining.	32	
	6.3. Abrasive wateriet machining	32	
7.	Surface preparation: Interface phenomena	33	
	7.1. Plasma treatment	33	
	7.2. Laser treatment	34	

^{*} Corresponding author: Tel: +353 61 202253. E-mail address: kali-babu.katnam@ul.ie (K.B. Katnam).

^{0376-0421/\$ -} see front matter @ 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.paerosci.2013.03.003

8.	Repair	· fabrication: Materials processing	. 34
	8.1.	Hard and soft patches	. 34
	8.2.	Cure temperature and pressure	. 35
9.	Desigr	1 of repairs: Mechanics of bonded joints	. 35
	9.1.	Analysis and design	. 35
	9.2.	Strength and durability	. 36
10.	Monit	oring and automation of repairs: Reliability and repeatability	. 37
	10.1.	Structural health monitoring	. 37
	10.2.	Automation and repeatability	. 38
11.	Conclu	1sions	. 38
Refe	erences		. 39

1. Composite materials: Aerospace industry

It is now scientifically and politically acknowledged that greenhouse gas emissions from different industries have been contributing to climate change [1,2]. Aircraft-engine emissions (e.g. carbon dioxide, nitrogen oxides, sulphur oxides etc.) are similar to other emissions resulting from fuel combustion, and contribute significantly to global climate change [3]. Aircraft emissions are emitted directly into the upper troposphere and lower stratosphere and thus have an impact on atmospheric composition, which makes them particularly potent compared to other emissions [4]. The formation of condensation trails (formed by the mixing of hot, moist air coming out of the engine with cold ambient air) in the wake of the aircraft has a warming effect on climate [5]. To combat the environmental threat that aviation industry poses, while agencies such as International Civil Aviation Organisation (ICAO) are working on international policies, the aerospace industry is aiming to considerably reduce emissions through weight reduction, aerodynamic improvements and new aircraft concepts [6,7]. For significant weight reduction, the application of composite materials in aircraft design is globally considered as one of the key technologies to meet emission targets.

Advanced composite materials, which are usually continuous carbon fibres with a polymer matrix for aerospace applications, can provide superior material properties than metals and thus enable lighter structural designs to be achieved [8]. The lighter structures result in lower fuel consumption and thus reduced emissions. Composite materials were first employed in military aircraft in the 1960s and later extended to civil aircraft applications in the 1970s [9]. However, civil aircraft manufacturers were slower to utilise composites in primary structural applications until the 2000s [10]. Now, as leading aircraft manufacturers replace traditional materials with advanced composite materials, the full potential of composites can be exploited through novel structural designs. Carbon-reinforced polymer composites are currently being used in aircraft design for primary and secondary structural applications. In recent years, advanced composites have been replacing traditional structural materials in primary load carrying aircraft structures to a significant extent (e.g. in the Boeing 787, approximately 50% advanced composites by weight) [11]. Similarly, the designs of the Airbus A350 and Bombardier CSeries, both currently under development, are using significant amounts of advanced composites. In addition to the improvement in fuel-efficiency and emission reduction, composite materials in aircraft design also improve passenger comfort. Composite fuselage, having higher allowable hoop stresses and corrosion resistance, would allow more comfortable levels of cabin pressure and humidity.

Carbon-fibre composites are usually manufactured in laminate or sandwich forms for aerospace structural applications [12]. Thermosetting (*e.g.* epoxies) or thermoplastic (*e.g.* poly-ether-ether-ketone) resins are often used as matrix material to hold reinforcing fibres. While the two matrix-material types have their pros and cons, thermosetting resins are currently extensively used in aircraft manufacturing [13] because of relatively low material and processing costs involved. The conventional manufacturing processes are based on the pre-preg approach (*i.e.* uni-directional fibres with pre-impregnated resin). However, as composite manufacturing using pre-preg materials is often expensive, alternative forms of materials and manufacturing methods are being sought to produce composites at a reduced cost [14]. For affordability and cost-efficiency, novel material (*e.g.* new fibre precursors [15], resin chemistries [16]) and manufacturing techniques (*e.g.* resin infusion of fibre pre-forms [17,18] for thermosetting resins, automated tape laying [19] for thermoplastics) are gaining popularity.

From a structural design viewpoint [20], carbon-fibre composites have many advantages such as high strength-to-weight ratio, high stiffness-to-weight ratio, improved fatigue tolerance, corrosion resistance, formability (*i.e.* easily mouldable to complex shapes), tailored mechanical properties, and low thermal expansion. On the other hand, from a structural affordability and safety viewpoint [21,22], some of the major challenges for the composites industry are: (a) reducing material and manufacturing costs, (b) ensuring manufacturing quality (*i.e.* repeatable and defect-free processes), (c) developing efficient joining technologies, (d) preventing in-service damage, (e) developing reliable design rules, and (f) improving structural maintenance and repair technologies. To overcome these challenges, research and development in composite materials have globally received significant attention in academic and industrial research centres.

2. Structural safety

2.1. Composite materials: Failure behaviour

Structural design rules for advanced composites, in comparison to metallic materials, are not yet mature [23]. As a fibre-reinforced composite material is a micro-structure in itself, with several carbon fibres $(5-10 \,\mu\text{m} \text{ in diameter})$ held together by a polymer material, the mechanical properties of the fibre, matrix and fibrematrix interface mainly contribute to the composite properties and failure mechanisms [22]. A weak fibre-matrix interface can lead to a low stiffness and strength but high resistance to fracture, whereas a strong interface produces high stiffness and strength but often a low resistance to fracture [9]. The failure behaviour depends not only on inherent heterogeneity and anisotropy, but also on possible failure modes and their interactions [24,25]. This complex failure behaviour is a major issue associated with the development of a robust failure criterion that incorporates all possible failure mechanisms with accuracy [26]. In addition, the new manufacturing processes often lead to a more complicated

micro-structure (*e.g.* incorporating complex fibre architectures) and thus introduce complex failure behaviour [27]. It is worth noting that the failure behaviour of composite materials strongly depends on strain-rates as well as environmental conditions [28,29].

Damage in composite laminates can be at a lamina-scale (*i.e.* matrix-cracking, fibre-matrix debonding, fibre-brakeage), laminate-scale (*i.e.* delamination) or structural-scale (*i.e.* extensive component damage), which can occur due to mechanical and environmental conditions during service. Importantly, impact loads often induce considerable subsurface damage (*i.e.* at intra-lamina and inter-lamina levels) in composite laminates, with very limited visible surface damage. It is thus very important to consider different length scales (*i.e.* intra-lamina, inter-lamina, laminate, and component levels) in the analysis and design of composite structures [30]. Understanding the failure mechanisms and their interactions at each length scale is critical for the development of robust design rules [31].

2.2. Industry concerns

While composites are currently being used in both secondary and primary structural components, some industry observers have raised concerns about the rapid expansion in the use of composites in commercial aircraft and the preparedness of authorities such as the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) for this transition. In a recent report, the US Government Accountability Office [32] identified several important aviation safety-related issues and categorised them into four areas: (a) limited information on the behaviour of composite structures, (b) technical concerns related to the unique properties of composite materials, (c) limited standardization of composite materials and repair techniques, and (d) level of training and awareness on composite materials.

Although the demand for composite products and components is globally growing at a healthy rate [33], the science and technology that support this growth needs to progress at a similar rate, which is lagging behind at the moment, for sustainability. In this regard, with immature design rules, manufacturing processes and joining technologies, the safety and efficiency of composite aircraft will largely depend on structural maintenance and repair [34]. With the increased usage of advanced composites in different structural applications, the demand for cost-effective and novel manufacturing processes (e.g. out-of-autoclave techniques, integrated structures) has also increased. This trend can lead to manufacturing defects and structural maintenance issues, which subsequently demands advanced repair techniques. While composite research and development activities are in progress globally, what the aerospace industry currently needs is a reliable technology for the maintenance and repair for primary and secondary structures [35].

3. Structural composite repair

3.1. Structural inspection

Aircraft structures require regular inspections (with procedures established by the aircraft manufacturers and airworthiness authorities such as the Federal Aviation Administration and the European Aviation Safety Agency) to ensure structural integrity, efficiency and safety [36]. The continued airworthiness of aircraft composite structures depends on several factors (*e.g.* impact damage, delamination, debonding, manufacturing defects). During service, structural damage can initiate from manufacturing defects (*e.g.* voids, weak bonds) or occur due to mechanical loads (*e.g.* impact) and/or environmental exposure (*e.g.* moisture, temperature) [37]. The residual strength of damaged composite

components depends on the extent and nature of the damage. Damage caused by impact (*e.g.* dropped tools, service collisions, bird strike) can often be a critical threat to structural integrity [38]. Damage can also result from environmental factors such as moisture ingression, rain erosion, hail, lightning strike, ultraviolet radiation *etc.* Aircraft maintenance checks are *lighter* when the aircraft is in service (*e.g.* A and B checks, which are conducted without disassembly) and *heavier* when the aircraft is temporarily out of service (*e.g.* C checks with disassembly). The maintenance schedule depends on the fight cycles and flight hours [36].

In metal structures, impact damage is generally not a major safety concern (although metal fatigue can be a threat) because of the inherent material ductility and energy absorbing mechanisms. In contrast, composite structures are inherently brittle (the fibres are brittle, and so is the matrix when compared with ductile metals) and can only absorb energy in elastic deformation and through damage mechanisms-making them sensitive to impact damage [39]. Moreover, the impacts on composite structures are generally in the transverse direction (*i.e.* normal to the plane of the fibres), which in the absence of through-the-thickness reinforcement has relatively low damage resistance. In high-velocity impact, the material response is dominated by stress wave propagation and does not have enough time to trigger quasistatic damage mechanisms-leading to localized damage [40]. In low-velocity impact, as the contact duration is long enough for the entire structure to respond to the impact load, the dynamic structural response of the component is of importance and as a consequence more energy is absorbed elastically [40].

A considerable reduction in compressive, tensile and shear strength is often caused by impact damage [41,42], depending on the impact energy and impactor diameter. Blunt impacts can induce sub-surface damage without visible surface damage [43]: it is thus difficult to identify such damage during visual inspections [44]. Impact loads can cause delamination, dents and punctures as well as micro-damage (i.e. matrix-cracking, fibrebreakage). Delamination damage occurs at the interface between the laminae of a laminate or between skins and the core of sandwich panels. Delamination can considerably reduce the structural stiffness and strength of composite components. With low velocity impacts, dents are typically an indication of subsurface damage [43], which can consist of laminate delamination, debonding of skin and core, matrix cracks and fibre breakage. However, with a higher impact energy and smaller impactor, a puncture is more likely to occur than a dent. A puncture may have delamination, matrix damage, and fibre breakage around it. It is important to note that fibre-breakage, unlike matrix-cracking, can be critical as key material properties are dominated by fibre reinforcement. Such fibre failure is usually localized to the impact zone, depending on the impactor size and impact energy [40].

In general, damage to composite components needs to be assessed by using suitable non-destructive techniques to determine the extent and location of the damage as a first step to decide whether to repair or replace the damaged component. If damage is not widespread and extensive, structural repair is the only feasible solution as replacing the entire component is not cost-effective in many cases [45]. Non-destructive inspection methods used in a manufacturing environment are often more stringent than the methods that can be practically suitable for on-aircraft inspection [35]. For example, inspection with access to only one side of the composite component is often a major constraint, especially for inservice checks. Non-contact non-destructive techniques that can scan large areas with high speed and detect sub-surface damage are ideal for aircraft composite structures [34]. Moreover, as the reduction in material strength depends on the type and size of damage, accurate damage detection and quantification are essential for a robust aircraft structural maintenance and repair strategy.

3.2. Structural repair

The primary objective of any structural composite repair technique is to restore the strength and stiffness of a damaged component and bring its original service condition (i.e. structural and operational efficiency) back as much as possible [45]. Depending on the type and location of the damage, structural composite repair can be injection, doubler or scarf based [46]. While resin injection repair is generally regarded as a temporary measure to stop the spreading of damage, doubler repair can provide a permanent restoration of structural strength, but not an aerodynamically smooth surface. Scarf repair can offer structural strength as well as a flush surface, and thus have greater potential for aircraft composite repair, especially for external skin panels. In designing a composite repair, other factors such as durability and operating conditions must also be considered to ensure the effectiveness and structural integrity of the repair. Composite repairs are either mechanically fastened or adhesively bonded patches. Mechanically fastened composite repairs are not generally acceptable on thin laminates or sandwich structures because of the stress concentrations induced by mechanical fasteners [47,48]. Bonded composite scarf repairs are generally preferred as they can provide better joint efficiencies and a superior aerodynamic surface [45,49]. In Fig. 1, subsurface damage typically induced by low velocity blunt impactor and subsequent bonded repair with scarf and stepped scarf patches is schematically shown. As the adhesion of carbon-fibre and resin system is fundamental to manufacturing composites, a bonded scarf patch is a natural choice to achieve effective stress transfer mechanisms.

In a bonded repair, adhesive bonding of the parent and repair materials is an important factor. The bond strength, which depends mainly on surface treatment, adhesive type, curing conditions and joint design, must be sufficiently high to ensure that stresses are safely transferred between the two adherends [50]. The design of bonded repairs should aim to provide a shear dominant stress state and induce minimum peel (*i.e.* through-thickness normal) stresses in the adhesive layer to improve the joint strength [51]. In general, bonded scarf patches, with no eccentricity of the load and minimal peel stresses, are the most efficient joints for bonded repair. On the other hand, scarf repairs require the removal of large amounts of undamaged material to provide a shallow scarf angle, which may cause further damage to the parent laminate. In addition, in situ scarf repair poses several challenges [52] such as accurate damage assessment, precise scarfing (i.e. obtaining the designed scarf angle), bondable (clean and active) scarf surfaces, controlled cure temperature and pressure *etc*.

3.3. Aircraft MRO

The MRO (maintenance, repair and overhaul) market is a key player within the aviation industry, given the importance of



Fig. 1. Bonded composite repair: (a) subsurface damage typically induced by low velocity blunt impactor, ((b)–(c)) composite machining to achieve straight and stepped taper for scarf and stepped scarf repair, ((d)–(e)) scarf and stepped scarf repair patches with over-ply.



Fig. 2. Research challenges for developing robust bonded composite repair technology.

aircraft safety. According to a recent report from Lucintel [53] on growth opportunities for composites in the aerospace MRO market for the period 2011–2016, the global aerospace MRO market is expected to grow at a CAGR (compound annual growth rate) of 3.2%, and the aerospace composite components MRO market at a CAGR of 10.6%. Opportunities for composites repair in aerospace MRO can be expected in three segments namely primary aerostructures, secondary aero-structures and engine components.

4. Bonded repair: Research areas

Structural adhesive bonding as a joining technology provides many advantages in aerospace applications. Secondary bonding, with high performance structural adhesives, is often used in the assembly of composite structures [54]. For bonded structural composite repair, single or double-sided doubler patches [55-57], scarf or stepped scarf patches can be bonded to the damaged structure [49-51,58]. However, accessibility to both sides of the damaged region is often restricted, especially when the damaged component is not disassembled. Bonded doubler repairs are relatively easy to perform as no material is removed from the parent structure, but they are only suitable for thin cross-sections and do not provide smooth surfaces [46]. Scarf patches are in general suitable for permanent repair of thick cross-sections [52]; however the repair needs accurate processing techniques and trained technicians to precisely implement standard procedures (e.g. structural repair manuals) [52]. Scarf repairs can be conducted with access to one side of the damaged component; they can also provide effective stress transfer and a good aerodynamic surface finish.

The saying *the devil is in the detail* is certainly relevant to composite bonded repairs, especially to primary structural components. For structural bonded scarf repair of composites by using conventional (manual) repair procedures, suitable techniques for damage assessment, material removal, surface preparation, patch

fabrication, and controlled curing (temperature and pressure) are essential [45]. Each one of these aspects poses different challenges in order to make reliable and consistent repairs without human error [59]. However, as the demand for more reliable and repeatable repair procedures for both primary and secondary composite structural members has been increasing, research activities on bonded composite repair have globally gained momentum in the composite industry as well as in academia. The research activities are focusing on several key areas, ranging from damage detection techniques to automated repair technologies.

In this paper, the key elements of structural bonded scarf repair, as shown in Fig. 2, are reviewed. The scientific aspects are broadly divided into six categories: (a) damage assessment, (b) material removal, (c) surface preparation, (d) patch fabrication, (e) design, and (g) monitoring and automation. The areas of damage assessment (*i.e.* potential NDT techniques), material removal (*i.e.* composite machining), surface preparation and patch fabrication, which are essential for implementing bonded composite repairs, are covered in Sections 5–8. The aspects of patch analysis and design, strength and durability, which are important to ensure structural integrity, are covered in Section 9. The topic of monitoring repair patches and future opportunities for bonded repair automation are reviewed and discussed in Section 10.

5. Damage assessment: Non-destructive testing

Structural damage needs to be accurately assessed to perform an adequate bonded repair. As impact damage is critical to composite material performance [39], structural damage needs to be accurately located and quantified. Locating damage is not always straightforward as barely visible impact damage (BVID) is common in composite laminates [43]. Subsurface damage in composite materials can be in the form of matrix-cracking, fibrematrix debonding, fibre-brakeage and delamination—ranging in size from couple of microns to several centimetres. Moreover, as the damage mechanisms in composites are often very complex because of their inherent non-homogenous and anisotropic material behaviour, non-destructive inspection poses several challenges for accurate and reliable damage assessment [60–63]. Several nondestructive testing techniques are employed for different damage types, but there is no unique technique available that can accurately evaluate all damage types in composite materials [34].

Visual inspection, which is quick and low cost, is the most obvious approach to assess surface damage, especially for visible cracks, dents and punctures. Factors such as surface cleanliness. colour, finish, illumination, environmental conditions and even the inspector's vision can influence the outcome of the inspection [64]. If any surface defect is detected, a more sophisticated nondestructive technique can later be employed. Similarly, a tap test is also an inexpensive inspection technique [65], which has in recent years been automated (e.g. Woodpecker [66]) for greater accuracy. Areas of good bond will sound clear and of a higher frequency than disbonded or delaminated areas, which give a dull sound of lower frequency. Although the tap test is low cost and quick, it cannot locate smaller defects and is also ineffective for thick composite sections. In this regard, more advanced nondestructive techniques, such as ultrasound, thermography and shearography, have potential for accurate and reliable damage detection.

5.1. Ultrasonic techniques

Ultrasonic testing is an established non-destructive technique for detecting subsurface damage in composites [60]. When ultrasonic waves travel through composite materials, the wave propagation is influenced by internal damage (e.g. delamination or disbonding), which act as discontinuities and introduce a local change in acoustic impedance. In direct ultrasonic techniques, high frequency waves are generated by a transducer and transmitted to a test component; then the reflected or transmitted waves are received by the same or a second transducer [67]. High frequency waves are more sensitive to defects; whereas, low frequency waves can penetrate to greater depths [68]. With contact transducers, a thin layer of couplant (e.g. oil) is used between the test surface and the transducer to transmit waves without large attenuation. With immersion transducers, which are not in contact with the test surface, the test component is immersed in couplant (often water) to facilitate wave transmission. A waterjet coupled transducer can also be used to transmit waves and scan composite laminates. From a composite repair viewpoint, conventional ultrasonic techniques offer several advantages. Ultrasonic testing can detect different defects (e.g. delamination, voids or disbonding) and indicate the depth of a defect in a laminate. Scanning systems can be portable to inspect large areas. Scans with pulse-echo mode can be used with access to only one-side of the test surface. However, one major disadvantage of direct ultrasonic techniques is the need for a liquid couplant to overcome the acoustic impedance mismatch between air and composite materials [69]. Without a couplant, the majority of the sound energy is lost and very little is transmitted into the test component. A couplant displaces the air between the transducer and the test surface and minimizes the energy loss. Scanning with a couplant can be complex and often not practical for in situ inspection of large composite structures [70].

In contrast to direct techniques, indirect ultrasonic techniques such as laser-based ultrasound do not require conventional transducers to generate ultrasonic waves at the test surface for transmission and conversely on reception [71,72]. A short pulse laser is used to generate waves; a long pulse or a continuous wave laser is used as an *indirect* approach to detect the waves. When a laser pulse strikes a composite material, it rapidly expands the material locally and creates a thermo-elastic ultrasonic pulse [73]. Moreover, with higher pulse energies above the ablation threshold of the material, the laser pulse vaporizes the test surface forming high temperature plasma and creating an ultrasonic wave (in addition to those generated thermo-elastically) [72]. Interferometry (*e.g.* Fabry–Perot) can be used to detect ultrasound waves [74]. The main advantages of laser ultrasound technique are: noncontact inspection, couplant-free scanning, inspection with access to only one-side of the test component, and inspection of complex shapes from greater distances. On the other hand, a laser-based ultrasonic inspection system, which requires two laser systems and interferometer, is expensive in comparison to the conventional transducer-based systems [71]. Moreover, as material induced wave phenomena is used to optically detect damage, sensitivity of laser ultrasound techniques could be an issue.

5.2. Thermography

Thermography is a non-contact technique based on infrared radiation for detecting material damage or defects [75]. In thermography, which can be either passive or active, temperature gradients are measured to detect material damage non-destructively [76]. While passive thermography is used for components that are at a different temperature than its surroundings, active thermography involves heating the component surface rapidly by using an external heat source and observing how the temperature decays with time [77,78]. As composite materials possess a relatively low thermal conductivity, thermographic techniques are well suited for the inspection of composite structures [60]. Infrared cameras are used to capture thermal images; advanced software is then used to process these images for detecting subsurface defects. In relation to repair, subsurface damage in composites (i.e. delamination, disbonds, cracks, or moisture) affects local thermal conductivity and manifests in local temperature gradients within the damaged region [75]. The detected subsurface damage can be quantified in terms of depth and size. Thermography enables large area inspection to be conducted to detect subsurface damage. Once damage is identified, another technique such as ultrasonic testing can be used for a detailed local inspection [79]. Thermography can also be used to inspect bonded repair patches [80]. The major advantages of thermography are noncontact non-destructive inspection with access to only one-side, inspection of large and complex surfaces in quick time, and data processing in pictorial format for rapid decisions. However, active thermography is relatively expensive with current technology as high sensitive thermal cameras and external heat sources are required. The technique could be less sensitive to subsurface defects in thicker laminates.

5.3. Shearography

Shearography, which is an interferometric technique, uses coherent laser illumination for surface deformation measurements (i.e. displacements and displacement derivatives) non-destructively [75]. Compared to holography, which measures surface displacements, shearography measures derivatives of surface displacements and thus provides surface strains [81,82]. The technique has significantly been improved in recent years with advancements in chargecoupled device (CCD) cameras, lasers and computing hardware. Digital shearography is a non-destructive testing suitable for composites due to its ability to provide non-contact, full-field measurements. The technique uses the coherent, monochromatic properties of laser light to generate speckle patterns on the test surface. The speckle patterns on the test surface are recorded-one image when the specimen is unstressed and one with an applied stress. The technique requires an image shearing device (e.g. Michelson interferometer) in front of the CCD camera [83]. When the test component is subject to an applied load, subsurface damage will exhibit strain anomalies compared with the regions that are free from damage. Digital shearography can be used to detect the damage-induced surface strain anomalies. Shearography is particularly effective in revealing impact damage in composite structures [84]. Common loading techniques include thermal loading (*e.g.* high power flash lamps), pressure loading (*e.g.* vacuum) or vibrational excitation. The inspection results are shown in real time to the user and systems can be configured to automatically detect/measure defects in composite structures—including delamination, disbonds, kissing bonds, impact damage, wrinkles, and dry spots [81]. Shearography increases inspection speed of large composite structures [34,70] and also enables non-destructive testing of adhesively bonded repair patches [85]. However, as shearography directly measures surface strain anomalies in the component, the success in detecting damage/defects depends on their size and location [76,81,82,86].

6. Material removal: Composite machining

When damage is non-destructively identified and assessed, the damaged region needs to be accurately machined to remove material and taper edges for implementing bonded scarf repairs. But composite machining poses several problems (e.g. edge damage, delamination, matrix-cracking, fibre pullout) because of the inherent material anisotropy and non-homogeneity [87-89]. The machinability of composites depends on physical and mechanical properties, which themselves depend largely on the type of fibre, fibre content, fibre orientation and matrix material [90]. The machining/scarfing (i.e. damage and material removal) of composites is thus a key process parameter in bonded scarf repairs. Moreover, the scarfing of curved composite surfaces is more complex than flat surfaces and thus requires accurate machining to achieve a designed scarf angle. In a conventional approach, the damaged material is removed and the edges tapered by mechanical machining processes (e.g. cutting, grinding, sanding) to achieve a designed scarf angle for either a straight or stepped bondline. Manual processes (i.e. using hand-held machining tools) can lead to inaccurate scarf geometries; thus the accuracy and quality of the machined region largely depend on the skills of repair technicians [91]. Non-traditional machining approaches, such as pulse-laser and abrasive-wateriet based techniques, could provide opportunities to improve and automate the process of damaged material removal for bonded repairs.

6.1. Conventional machining

The machining of composite materials, having distinct fibre and matrix phases, is more complicated than that of metals/alloys [88]. Conventional machining of composites is difficult because of their heterogeneity, anisotropy, low thermal conductivity, heat sensitivity and high abrasiveness [88-90]. The fibres are strong and brittle; the polymer matrix is in comparison weak and ductile. The machining of composites by conventional processes is characterized by intermittent micro-fracture because of the contrasting response of the fibres and polymer matrix to the applied mechanical forces [92]. The machined surface guality is thus largely depends on the type of fibre as well as the fibre orientations. Fibres conduct heat along their direction and thus dissipate heat away from the machining zone. But the polymer matrix, with its poor thermal properties, cannot endure high temperatures that are often induced during machining and thus requires a coolant for heat dissipation. On the other hand, moisture absorption by the polymer matrix with the application of a liquid coolant may adversely affect dimensional accuracy, surface properties, and mechanical properties of the machined region [93].

The machining quality manifests in geometric features (*e.g.* surface quality) and the extent of material damage (*e.g.* edge delamination) caused by the process parameters. High machining

forces will be generated when inappropriate machining conditions (*e.g.* speeds, feed rates, tool geometries, tool wear *etc.*) are used, and consequently cause material damage during machining (*e.g.* delamination) [93]. Moreover, as residual stresses are often introduced (intra-lamina and inter-lamina) after curing because of the difference in thermal expansion coefficients of polymer matrix and fibres, the internal stresses will be released during machining and may sometimes deform and damage the component. The debris can also be a health hazard in the absence of proper dust extraction systems during manual machining [88]. Complex systems, however, are required to automate mechanical-based scarfing of laminates for bonded composite repair [94,95].

6.2. Laser machining

Laser machining of composites provides several advantages in comparison to conventional machining processes [88,96]. Laser machining offers the accurate damage removal and scarfing of composites and thus provides opportunities for bonded composite repairs [97,98]. But it is worth noting that laser machining of composites is a complex process because the fibre and polymer matrix phases, which have considerably different physical and thermal properties, respond differently to high energy lasers [99]. In comparison to the fibres, the polymer matrix materials have a high absorption coefficient, low thermal conductivity, low thermal diffusivity, and low ablation threshold [88]. Epoxy matrix materials are removed by complex laser-material interaction and degradation mechanisms (e.g. ablation) above their ablation thresholds [97]. The fibres require higher temperatures and longer exposure time to machine. Carbon fibres, with higher thermal conductivity, dissipate heat into the bulk of the material and can cause a large heat-affected-zone (HAZ) if appropriate laser process parameters are not used [100]. In contrast to continuous lasers, pulsed lasers can provide significant improvements in machining quality. Short pulsed lasers offer better process parameters (e.g. shorter lasermaterial interaction time, higher energy, better focusing) and consequently help achieve a smaller HAZ than a continuous laser [100,101].

As laser machining is fundamentally a thermal process, external mechanical forces, which can cause distortion and material damage, are not required during machining [88]. Furthermore, as the machinability is not affected by the material strength and hardness, laser machining can be advantageous for heterogeneous materials such as composites. It also offers flexibility to machine components with complex shapes as it is a non-contact machining process. However, one of the major issues with laser machining of composites is the formation of HAZs which can adversely affect the material properties [100]. To minimize the HAZ, optimized laser process parameters, which depend on the type of fibre and matrix material, need to be identified and used [101,102]. The other major issue is the toxic by-products [103], which could pose a health risk to repair technicians, generated from the lasercomposite material interactions during machining. For bonded composite repairs, a computer controlled laser machining system is required to machine designed scarf angles and shapes.

6.3. Abrasive waterjet machining

In abrasive waterjet (AWJ) machining, a waterjet is used together with abrasive particles at extremely high speeds for machining of composites through an accelerated micro-erosion process. Water is pumped at high pressures through a nozzle to form a coherent stream flowing at high speeds [104]. As the motion of the nozzle is controlled, geometric accuracy is achieved. But the machining quality depends on several factors (*e.g.* water pressure and flow rate, mixing tube diameter and length, abrasive particle size and shape, abrasive material, abrasive flow rate, traverse speed, stand-off distance, inclination angle *etc.*) [88]. AWJ machining involves complex interactions between the abrasive particles, the flow development and the target material [105]. As abrasive particles impact the material surface at high velocities, material removal at micro-scale occurs by particle impact erosion mechanisms, which depend on the target material and abrasive particle properties [106–108]. The erosion mechanisms for brittle materials are governed by indentation fracture through microcrack formation, propagation, and interaction. The macroscopic interaction of the abrasive waterjet with the target material is responsible for kerf formation, material removal and machining [88].

AWJ machining can be used to accurately remove damage from composite components and thus offer opportunities to achieve complex scarf geometries for bonded composite repair [109]. With appropriate process parameters and controlled motion of the nozzle over the component predetermined shapes (i.e. straight or stepped scarf geometries) can be machined. As water is involved in the machining process, AWJ techniques eliminate the issue of heat-affected-zones and tool wear. The machining process eliminates toxic fume and also wash away hazardous debris from the machined region; it is thus an environment-friendly process [88]. On the other hand, AWJ machining, depending on process parameters, may introduce delamination and promote water penetration [110]. As water is used in the machining process, adhesive bonding of wet composite surfaces can be an issue for bonded repairs. For on-aircraft bonded repair, a waterjet system that can accurately remove material (without damaging any other components near the repair region) and effectively collects the used water and abrasive slurry is required. However, such AWI systems would require complex setup and could also be expensive.

7. Surface preparation: Interface phenomena

Adhesion is one of the key factors that govern the mechanical properties of composite materials. The adhesion between the fibre and matrix phases is fundamental to the intra-lamina mechanical properties, while the inter-lamina adhesion is fundamental to the laminate properties. Adhesion is an inter-atomic and intermolecular interaction phenomenon at the interface of bonding surfaces [111]. As surface properties (i.e. conducive physical and chemical conditions) are important for promoting strong interface bonds, the aspect of surface preparation is thus critically important in both secondary bonding and bonded composite repairs [112,113]. Composite materials usually require surface preparation to enhance interface adhesion prior to secondary bonding. While secondary bonding of composites in a manufacturing process can be performed in controlled conditions, the repair processes (e.g. damage removal) and conditions (e.g. humidity or chemicals) often contaminate composite surfaces prior to bonding. The cleaning and preparation of composite surfaces prior to bonding is thus critical to ensure strong interface adhesion in structural bonded repairs.

The fundamental mechanisms that govern adhesion are not yet fully understood, although considerable research has globally been carried out for several decades [114]. Different adhesion theories have been proposed based on scientific concepts such as mechanical interlocking, molecular bonding and thermodynamics; but currently there is no unified adhesion theory that explains all the adhesion mechanisms [115]. The topic of adhesion is multidisciplinary in nature and involves several elements of polymer science, surface engineering, mechanics of materials and other related topics [114,115]. Factors such as low surface energy, chemical inertness, surface contamination and a weak boundary

layer often contribute to poor wettability and weak interface adhesion in polymer composites. A misconception about surface preparation prior to bonding is that a clean surface (e.g. free from dust, lubricants or other surface contaminants) is the only requirement for better adhesion. A clean surface is only a necessary condition for adhesion, but not sufficient to achieve strong interface bonds [54]. Good adhesion requires very close contact; adhesive needs to flow and wet the surfaces to be bonded [116]. To ensure good surface wetting, the surface energy of the adherend must be higher than that of the adhesive used for bonding [117]. Surface preparation is thus essential to modify the physical and chemical properties of the surfaces, increase surface energy and remove contaminants and weak boundary layers [118,119]. Appropriate surface preparation will promote adherend-adhesive interface bond strength and improve structural performance (i.e. strength and durability) of adhesively bonded joints. Surfaces that are either untreated or insufficiently prepared prior to bonding could lead to adherend-adhesive interface fracture reducing the joint efficiency.

With regard to bonded composite repair, the machining process used will remove material damage and create new surfaces (e.g. tapered scarf surfaces). The surfaces often require mechanical abrasion to achieve surface uniformity and solvent cleaning to remove debris, dust or any surface contaminants [45]. But the type of surface preparation can depend on the machining process used in creating the surfaces. In general, a variety of surface preparation (e.g. abrasion/solvent cleaning, grit blasting, low-pressure plasma treatment) can be used to enhance surface energy, increase surface roughness, activate surface chemistry, and thereby increase bond strength and durability of adhesively bonded composite joints [112]. Abrasion/solvent cleaning is the most commonly used technique for composite adherends to increase the mechanical interlocking of the adhesive into the adherend by removing contaminants and improving surface roughness. However, providing intimate contact between the adherend and adhesive is essential for intrinsic adhesion, which will lead to interatomic and intermolecular bonding and a stronger adherend-adhesive interface. Abrasive processes do not guarantee high surface wettability and surface energy that are required to provide intimate contact between the adherend and adhesive. Solvent cleaning could remove dust and debris; but solvent residue could adversely affect the adherend-adhesive interface properties. Moreover, a manual process could lead to nonuniform and inconsistent surface properties, and may also contaminate the surface. In this context, advanced surface treatments based on atmospheric plasma and pulsed laser ablation could offer opportunities for composite bonded repairs.

7.1. Plasma treatment

Polymer surfaces can be modified by exposure to a low pressure or atmospheric plasma. As plasma consists of charged particles (i.e. electrons, ions and radicals), a plasma surface treatment can provide chemical modifications to polymer composites, and thus enhance surface free energy and wettability for adhesion [120-122]. Polymer surfaces are exposed to a cloud of plasma either inside a vacuum chamber (*i.e.* low pressure plasma) or at ambient pressure (*i.e.* atmospheric plasma) by ionizing a gas with an energy source. The complex plasma-material interactions lead to surface reactions and consequently modify surface properties [123]. A few molecular layers will be modified when polymer composites are in contact with plasma. The reactive species in the plasma interact with the surface molecules and produce functional groups. It is known that low pressure plasma treatment can significantly improve interface adhesion in composite bonded joints [124-127]. But low pressure plasma treatment requires a complicated setup to achieve low pressures, which can be difficult or even impossible to achieve, on large composite surfaces. On the other hand, an atmospheric plasma treatment does not require low pressure conditions and can be generated at the tip of a nozzle [128]. Atmospheric plasma treatments provide opportunities for surface preparation of complex and large composite surfaces. In comparison to manual abrasive processes, atmospheric plasma treatment is a non-contact process that can yield surface uniformity and process repeatability. The process could be automated as the plasma is delivered onto the surface in the form of a jet. Plasma-material interactions, however, are complex and depend on the material properties as well as the plasma source and parameters. The modified surface properties could be lost over time (*i.e.* hydrophobic recovery) when the surfaces are exposed to ambient conditions [129]. Plasma treatment of composites requires expensive systems in comparison to the conventional surface treatments. With regard to composite repair, the debris and dust generated during damage removal need to be removed prior to plasma treatment (plasma-material interaction is limited to a very thin surface layer).

7.2. Laser treatment

The interaction of a laser with polymer composites can modify the physical and chemical properties of the surface through photothermal and photo-chemical processes-depending on the laser parameters and material properties [123,130]. High temperatures generated by pulse lasers can break chemical bonds and thus form functional groups, which chemically activate the surface for adhesive bonding [131–134]. Pulse laser ablation of the matrix phase will occur above the ablation threshold, and hence remove material and improve surface roughness [135]. Laser-based surface preparation for adhesive bonding of composites can provide advantages. As lasers can be employed to accurately deliver a large amount of energy onto a localised region of composite surfaces, the surface properties can be accurately engineered without altering the subsurface material. In comparison to abrasive processes, laser surface treatment is a non-contact and controlled process, and provides opportunities for uniformity, repeatability and automation. However, laser-material interactions are complex and depend on the material properties (e.g. optical and thermal properties) as well as the laser parameters (e.g. wavelength, power, mode of operation, interaction time) used [88]. The optical and thermal characteristics, which substantially influence the surface condition during and after laser processing, of the material should be known prior to laser treatment. The rate of material or contaminant removal with laser ablation depends on parameters such as frequency, pulse duration, pulse repetition rate, laser energy density. As polymer materials absorb different amounts of energy at different wavelengths, laser wavelength is an important parameter for surface modification of composites. The type of laser (e.g. Nd-YAG, CO₂, excimer laser) used is the key in achieving the desired surface modification without affecting the bulk material properties. In comparison to conventional surface preparation (e.g. abrasion/solvent wiping), the laser processing of composites require expensive systems. But an integrated laser system, which is capable of damage removal and surface preparation, could provide opportunities for bonded composite repair [52].

8. Repair fabrication: Materials processing

The performance of composites and their bonded assemblies largely depend on the material systems used and the processes and conditions employed in manufacturing them. The structural behaviour of composite bonded repairs is no different. Suitable material systems (i.e. patch materials, resins, adhesives) and controlled curing conditions (i.e. temperature and pressure) are essential to fabricate a strong and reliable repair patch [136,58]. Moreover, the time required, which is directly related to the aircraft downtime, to fabricate and consolidate a repair patch will have a significant impact on the associated economical and operational aspects [35]. The material systems that can be stored at ambient temperature and cured at low temperature and short cycle time are thus ideal for repair applications [137–140], especially for in situ fabrication. In addition, it is often required to perform repairs with out-of-autoclave processes as using an autoclave is only feasible for components that can be removed, disassembled and placed into an autoclave [141]. Therefore suitable fabrication techniques that can provide the required cure conditions – to achieve adequate curing and consolidation of adhesive bondlines and co-cured patches, and acceptable material properties without internal defects - are required.

8.1. Hard and soft patches

After the damaged region is removed (Section 6) and a suitable surface treatment employed (Section 7), the scarf cavity can be repaired with a patch which is either pre-cured (*i.e.* hard patch) or fabricated in situ with pre-preg or wet layup (i.e. soft patch) [58]. In a pre-cured approach, a patch is manufactured by either using a mould that matches the scarf cavity or by machining the scarf contour required. The pre-cured patch can be bonded to the parent component by using an appropriate film adhesive relatively at a low temperature (i.e. only curing the adhesive film). As the precured patches are not manufactured in situ, the properties of the patch (*i.e.* fibre-volume fraction and porosity) could match those of the parent component when the materials and process used to manufacture the patch matches those of the parent component. The pre-cured approach, however, is expensive, time consuming and requires additional process steps (i.e. machining of a contour mould or contoured patch) [58]. With a moulded patch, the precured patch may not precisely fit into the scarf cavity if any local distortions occurred because of unbalanced laminae [142-144]. On the other hand, for a machined patch, contoured composite machining requires non-conventional techniques and may introduce distortion or damage. Pre-cured patches (either moulded or machined) require surface preparation prior to adhesive bonding. In this regard, a soft patch approach can be relatively less expensive, provide flexibility to patch complex scarf cavities, and would allow in situ patch fabrication.

In a soft pre-preg patch approach, pre-preg laminae are cut to match the scarf cavity and used in conjunction with a film adhesive to fabricate a patch and repair the component through the application of heat and pressure. As the fibre-orientation and layup influence the mechanical properties of the patch, each lamina needs to be accurately cut and located while fabricating the patch. Furthermore, pre-preg materials and film adhesives usually need to be stored at very low temperatures in freezers to prevent undesirable curing at ambient conditions. Dry fibre fabric can also be used to fabricate a soft patch with an in situ resin infusion process. The resin will also act as an adhesive to bond the patch to the parent component. The soft patch approaches require in situ curing of the patch and thus need elevated temperatures and pressure to achieve desired patch consolidation [141]. But, as the curing process would often have to use a vacuum bag together with a heat blanket, which can result in low fibre-volume fraction and porosity in the patch and also voids in the bondlines, it is difficult to achieve patch properties that match those of the parent component. For on-aircraft bonded repairs, the location of damage/repair could affect the manoeuvrability (e.g. top or bottom skin repair) required to fabricate a soft patch. Wrinkling of the cocured patch can also be an issue with a soft patch approach [58]. In addition, moisture absorbed by the materials (*e.g.* pre-preg or film adhesive) prior to curing can also introduce porosity in the patch and bondlines [145,146]. But resin systems with low viscosity, low cure temperature and short cure time could provide opportunities to fabricate cost-effective scarf repairs. However, the material selection process for fabricating a patch will depend on the material systems used in the parent component to achieve a fully compatible repair patch.

8.2. Cure temperature and pressure

The manufacturing process of high-performance composites involves temperature, pressure and vacuum conditions to enable the curing reaction to take place and ensure good compaction of the laminate plies. Thermosetting resins such as epoxies, which are extensively used as matrix materials in composite laminates and as adhesives for bonding composites, polymerize at room or elevated temperatures, causing chemical changes in the molecular structure (*i.e.* cross-linking) [147]. The cure reactions are exothermic and strongly depend on the cure temperature and time [148]. Historically, the processing parameters of a cure cycle for composite laminates have been developed using trial-and-error methods [149]. The problem is partly due to the low thermal conductivity of most composite materials, which leads to thermal gradients, variations in degree of cure and residual stresses [150-152]. Considerable residual curing stresses could also be generated from the mismatch between the coefficients of thermal expansion of the fibres and matrix, and between adjacent laminae. The residual stresses can cause shrinkage and warpage of the component. In addition, factors such as entrapped air, absorbed moisture, gases formed during cure and geometrically constrained boundary conditions (i.e. fixed mould cavities) could lead to void formation [145,146,153–155]. Appropriate cure pressure is thus required to improve consolidation and reduce porosity.

In relation to bonded repairs, cure temperature is a key parameter that can have a direct influence on the quality of a bonded patch. Controlled heating is required to cure adhesives and co-cure composite patches. In case of humid conditions, it is necessary to dry surfaces and moisture in sandwich core prior to repair at elevated temperatures without over heating the parent component. Composite bonded repairs, especially when performed in situ, can be difficult to process as elevated temperatures are often required for curing the structural adhesives and composite resins used in the repair patch. For example, a single-sided heat source is often used to transfer heat through the full thickness of the repair patch to achieve uniform cure of the adhesive and co-cured patch. But composite laminates typically exhibit poor thermal conductivity in the through thickness direction, which may lead to a thermal gradient when a single-side heat source is used during repair [156]. The issue of thermal gradient can be significant if a sub-structure beneath the repair patch acts as a heat sink [35]. A thermal gradient could lead to non-uniform cure of the adhesive and co-cured patch; and consequently introduce non-uniform stress transfer and make the bonded repair ineffective. Complex cure temperature gradients may also increase the potential for process-induced warpage, residual stresses and matrix micro-cracking, and micro-delamination of the repair patch [157-159]; additionally over-heating may locally degrade the parent component (e.g. skin-core debonding in sandwich structures). Although heat blankets are commonly used for in situ repair, non-conventional heating methods (e.g. induction-curable adhesives and resins) have been shown to offer new opportunities [160–165]. However, optimal cure of adhesives and resins requires controlled cure cycles [147-149], and thus could be an issue with non-conventional heat sources.

Cure pressure, which is also an important parameter for bonded repairs, must be adequate to ensure proper bondline thickness, minimise bondline porosity, and cause the adhesive to flow and properly wet the surfaces [166,167,168]. For co-cured composite patches, pressure is required to consolidate the composite in order to obtain the desired mechanical properties. Pressure can be applied by using a vacuum bag [169] or mechanical approach [170]. Vacuum bagging, which is the most common because of its convenience, can conform to any surface, apply uniform pressure, remove volatiles and hold a heat blanket in place. Vacuum pressure will help remove air entrapped during fabrication (e.g. air between the film adhesive and the machined scarf surface) and volatile gases during cure, thus reducing the material porosity [167]. However, it is not possible to achieve high pressure by using vacuum bagging alone. This could lead to inadequate consolidation of co-cured patches and consequently affect the fibre-volume fraction and mechanical properties. On the other hand, approaches to mechanically apply pressure need complicated fixtures and must be held against the structure by a support mechanism. Moreover, the curvature of the repair region could adversely affect the pressure distribution and thus may not be uniform for complex surfaces.

9. Design of repairs: Mechanics of bonded joints

To restore the as-manufactured mechanical properties (*i.e.* strength and stiffness) of the damaged parent component using a bonded repair, the structural response of bonded patches needs to be accurately analysed and designed by incorporating geometrical and material parameters. It is important to note that the structural behaviour of bonded repairs heavily relies on processing factors (*i. e.* surface properties, adhesion and curing conditions) rather than mechanics (*i.e.* stress and strain) alone [171]. By comparison, the performance of mechanical factors such as bolt load and bolt-composite mechanical interactions [172,173]. This difference is a major challenge to provide strong, durable and reliable bonded scarf repairs, especially for primary structural components.

9.1. Analysis and design

The stiffness and strength of a bonded repair patch depend on the type of raw materials (*i.e.* soft or hard patch, adhesive), geometrical parameters (*e.g.* shape, scarf angle) and process parameters (*e.g.* surface treatment, cure conditions) that are used in the repair. The design of bonded repairs thus requires a comprehensive analysis of the stress transfer phenomena in the adhesive bondlines as well as in the two adherends under service loads. The design must also ensure that the bond between the two adherends transmits the service loads (*e.g.* tension, compression, fatigue) under environmental (*i.e.* humidity and temperature) service conditions [174–176]. The design should ideally ensure that the strength of the bonded repair is higher than the un-notched strength of the parent adherend so that failure occurs in the parent adherend before the bonded patch fails.

The extent of the material damage can be uncertain and depends on the source and nature of the damage. On the other hand, the amount of material that needs to be removed from the parent component for a scarf repair not only depends on the amount of damage, but also on the geometrical parameters (*e.g.* patch shape, scarf angle) of the patch designed. Some undamaged material around the damaged region needs to be machined in order to achieve the designed patch geometry. Whereas a circular scarf repair is appropriate for quasi-isotropic composite laminates,

a constant scarf angle in every direction may be overly conservative for orthotropic laminates that make up the majority of aircraft external structures [49]. In addition, the amount of undamaged material removed could have an adverse affect on a component that is designed to take high stresses in only one direction [49]. To minimize the removal of undamaged material from the component, the design of scarf repairs needs to be optimized for a given repair condition. An optimised repair design minimizes the amount of material to be machined from the component and may consequently reduce the time required to complete the repair.

Structural repair with bonded scarf patches should ideally maximise the repair efficiency and minimise the risk of structural failure by effectively transferring different service loads (e.g. static. fatigue) through it. As the structural performance of bonded composite patches depends on manufacturing, material and geometrical parameters, predicting the behaviour of bonded patches by including all the associated parameters is thus very complicated. In comparison to the analysis of composite bonded joints with single joint configurations (e.g. single or double lap joints), the prediction of the structural response of a bonded scarf joint in a composite structure is relatively more complex because of the stiffness variation along the parent-patch interface. The stress distributions (i.e. peel and shear stresses) vary significantly along the parent-patch interface, depending on laminate thickness, material properties, and the stacking sequence [177]. In general, the composite laminate strength in the overlap section of the scarfed lap joint is usually reduced when compared with the parent laminate strength-due to discontinuous fibres over the overlap length as well as stress concentrations in the bondline and laminates. In addition, the bond strength could vary, which is a characteristic feature of adhesively bonded joints (especially with brittle adhesives), due to variations of the associated material. geometrical and processing properties [178–182]. The manufacturing processes could introduce different types of defects (i.e. bondline porosity, laminate porosity, kissing bonds) [126,183,184]. It is thus important to investigate the reliability of bonded patches subjected to different service loads/conditions and predict the failure behaviour.

For the analysis of adhesively bonded joints, approaches based on analytical (i.e. closed-form solutions) or numerical methods are commonly used. But the majority of the existing analytical models for adhesively bonded joints are two-dimensional, which assume a plane stress or strain state in the third direction, thus neglecting the stresses generated across the third direction (i.e. stress caused by the Poisson's effect) in the adherends [185-190]. Moreover, most of the analyses are linear-elastic for both adherends and adhesive as nonlinear material and geometrical behaviour is difficult to incorporate in analytical models. Accurate analysis of bonded scarf repairs by incorporating complex three-dimensional geometrical parameters is thus not feasible with closed-form analytical methods [191]. Computational models, on the other hand, provide a general tool for the analysis of arbitrary geometries and loading conditions. Numerical methods (e.g. finite element method) are commonly used to perform non-linear stress analyses and predict critical stress regions. Modelling approaches based on damage or fracture mechanics can be employed to investigate the influence of different design parameters on the joint strength and failure behaviour (i.e. damage initiation/propagation, locus of failure) [192–195]. But complex material models (and thus material data) are often required to accurately analyse the structural failure behaviour of bonded joints subject to service conditions (e.g. temperature and humidity) [196-200]. Furthermore, as the bondline thickness is much smaller than that of the adherends, the finite element mesh must accommodate the small dimension of the bondline as well as the larger dimension of the patch. As stress concentrations often exist in the bondlines, it is

also essential that the bondline be modelled by a finite element mesh that is smaller than the bondline thickness [192]. This leads to a large number of degrees of freedom in the computational model, which requires efficient computational tools (e.g. explicit solvers) to reduce the analysis time. Numerical models based on a multi-scale approach may provide opportunities to handle the scale effects associated with bonded patches [201]. Furthermore, finite element models combined with statistical and probabilistic methods (e.g. Taguchi, response surface, Monte-Carlo techniques) could offer opportunities to analyse the variation in the joint strength and to identify critical process parameters [202.203]. Numerical models, when calibrated and validated experimentally. provide opportunities to design and optimise bonded repair patches. In relation to structural bonded repairs, a dedicated software tool [204] that can offer a quick and accurate analysis would play a significant role in the design of bonded repairs. Moreover, the details of the parent component as well as the mechanical properties of the repair materials (e.g. adhesive, laminate properties) need to be known and should be made available through structural repair manuals to facilitate the analysis and design of bonded composite repairs.

9.2. Strength and durability

Bonded joints may in theory be designed such that the adhesive can sustain loads greater than the strength of the parent material, ensuring that the adhesive will be able to sustain all possible load cases for the original structure [187-189]. However, many adhesive bonds fail in service because of inconsistent processing methods, while factors such as deficient design or poor materials selection could also play a role [175]. Variability in process conditions, which is highly relevant to bonded repairs (especially for in situ patch fabrication), can significantly contribute to the poor performance of bonded patches. While the mechanical properties of the parent laminate depend on the materials and processes used to manufacture the whole component, the mechanical properties of the patch laminate, parentpatch interface largely depend on the raw materials and process parameters employed during the fabrication of the repair patch. Process induced defects will degrade the mechanical properties of the patch laminate and bondline, and also generate stress concentrations in the patch when subject to external loads. As failure often initiates at stress concentrations, it is critical to use appropriate process conditions (i.e. uniform surface treatment, uniform cure temperature and consolidation) to reduce process induced defects. As the mechanical properties of brittle adhesives are often sensitive to porosity and stress concentrations, adhesives with low modulus and high ductility could minimize bondline stress concentrations and thus improve the joint strength and reduce its variation [205,206]. Toughened structural adhesives offer opportunities to enhance damage tolerance of bonded repairs [207,208].

Unlike bonded joints with metal adherends, the failure behaviour of bonded joints with composite adherends largely depends on the transverse tensile strength (*i.e.* through the thickness of the laminate) of the two adherends [209]. The transverse mechanical properties of composite laminates (with no through-the-thickness reinforcing fibres) are relatively lower in comparison to the inplane mechanical properties of the laminate. As bonded joints induce peel stresses in addition to shear stresses along the bondline, the low transverse tensile strength, which is of the same order or even lower than that of the matrix, could lead to the adherend failure in transverse tension before the failure of the adhesive occur [54]. The peel stresses could damage (*e.g.* by delamination) the parent or patch laminates and thereby adversely affect the stress transfer capacity of the repair patch. It is thus essential to keep the peel stresses below the transverse tensile strength of the two adherends by using appropriate geometrical parameters and adhesive types, which offer an enhanced stress distribution in the bondline and adherends in the bonded patch design.

Bonded repairs are exposed to different environmental conditions during their service life. The long-term performance of composite bonded patches depend on the structural response of the adhesive and adherends to fatigue and environmental conditions [210-212]. When subject to cyclic loading conditions, adhesives and resins can accumulate damage (e.g. crazing, shear yielding, micro-cracking) near stress concentrations in bonded ioints and initiate fatigue cracks [213-215]. In addition, the mechanical properties (e.g. elastic modulus, tensile strength) of thermosetting adhesives and resins can, in general, be considerably deteriorated when exposed to harsh environments (e.g. humidity, temperature), which will affect the durability of adhesively bonded joints [216-218]. The absorbed moisture can lead to both reversible and irreversible effects (e.g. plasticization, swelling and degradation). To ensure long-term durability of bonded repair patches, the individual and combined effects of mechanical and environmental loading must be accounted for in the design. Adhesives that are less sensitive to environmental service conditions could improve the long-term performance of bonded repairs.

10. Monitoring and automation of repairs: Reliability and repeatability

Manual composite repair procedures are prone to human error -depending on the skills and knowledge of repair technicians [91]. Human errors and inconsistencies in repair processes can significantly influence the structural strength and durability of bonded composite repairs [175]. Post-repair non-destructive evaluation of bonded patches can detect physical disbonds and voids [184], but cannot identify weak interface bonds (i.e. kissing bonds) introduced (e.g. through interface contamination or non-uniform surface treatment) during the repair [219]. Under-cured adhesive bondline and resin (with soft patches) regions are also difficult to identify. Weak interface bonds could initiate considerable disbonding of repair patches over time and pose a threat to the patch efficiency and integrity during service. In addition, without testing destructively, it is not possible to assess the bond strength of repair patches with current non-destructive techniques [220]. With these current limitations, post-repair non-destructive evaluation cannot reliably ensure the quality of bonded patches and thus cannot alone be used to accept or reject a bonded repair [219]. In this regard, especially in the area of primary structural repair, some elements of process control, quality assurance and structural heath monitoring when incorporated can provide opportunities to ensure reliability and repeatability-two critical factors for the certification of aircraft structural repairs. While automation of some of the repair processes (e.g. material removal, surface preparation, patch fabrication) can minimize human error and inconsistencies, condition monitoring of bonded patches by using active structural health monitoring techniques can assess structural integrity and thus ensure airworthiness.

10.1. Structural health monitoring

Bonded composite repairs require regular inspections to verify their structural performance. Non-destructive inspection techniques such as thermography, shearography and ultrasonic testing can be used in the repaired regions to assess damage. But these techniques cannot provide real-time data to assess damage and thus condition-based maintenance – instead of scheduled-based maintenance – is not possible [221,222]. Structural health monitoring of composite structures is an emerging research area with a potential for real-time monitoring to detect subcritical or critical damage in order to enhance structural maintenance and safety [223-226]. For bonded composite repairs, a health monitoring system could provide opportunities to assess the structural integrity of the patch in real-time and help schedule conditionbased non-destructive inspection. But the monitoring system must have high reliability and probability of damage detection; withstand the service conditions which the bonded patch will be exposed to: minimum influence on the structural integrity of the patch when embedded: and stand alone and autonomous [227]. As surface mounted sensor systems will be exposed to harsh environmental and mechanical conditions, an embedded approach [228,229], which is often suitable for composites during processing, could be more appropriate. However, the influence of embedded sensors on the mechanical properties (e.g. embedded systems in bondlines could act as stress raisers similar to defects or disbonds) of bonded repair needs to be appropriately assessed.

Structural health monitoring techniques use sensors to detect small variations in signals such as strain or vibration as a result of damage initiation or propagation. For example, strain distribution near the damaged region of composite bonded joints under external load can be considerably different to that of the undamaged regions [221]. The variation in strain distributions often depend on the extent of damage and is often highly localised to the damaged regions [230]. A strain-based approach can thus be employed to assess damage by monitoring such localized strain variations (e.g. by strain gauges, optical fibres with Bragg grating) in real-time [231-235]. In comparison to conventional strain sensors, optical fibres with Bragg grating can offer improved mechanical and environmental durability as well as sensor networking capability [236,237]. But strain sensors need to be located near damage sensitive regions in order to measure the local variation in strain distributions. In bonded repairs, as the most damage sensitive regions are the ends of the parent-patch interface, strain sensors installed near the edges of the patch could be used for continuous monitoring. However, it is difficult to accurately characterise the extent of damage in a bonded repair by using strain sensors at discrete locations.

Ultrasonic waves such as guided Lamb waves, which can propagate large distances in plate-like structures such as composite laminates, provide broader diagnostic coverage than conventional strain sensors for active structural health monitoring of composite structures [238-242]. Lamb waves can be generated in composite structures by using an array of piezoelectric transducers, which are either surface bonded or embedded, and exciting with an alternating voltage, which produces contraction and expansion through the piezoelectric effect [243-247]. The wave reflection or diffraction, which occurs at the structural boundaries or discontinuities or damage, can thus be used for monitoring composite damage either with pitch-catch or pulse-echo modes [248]. As Lamb waves exist in symmetric and anti-symmetric modes and their interaction with composite damage is complicated (e.g. different Lamb wave modes propagate in the material with different velocities and thus be detected at different times), the fundamental modes are isolated and then used for monitoring structural damage [136]. As piezoelectric transducers can be embedded in bonded composite patches during patch fabrication, ultrasonic wave-based structural health monitoring could provide opportunities for assessing the structural integrity of bonded repairs. However, the geometric complexities of bonded repairs could lead to complicated wave propagation characteristics [249] (e.g. scattering) and consequently affect signal interpretation. The appropriate choice of the input frequency and the knowledge of the interaction between the incident stress wave and the geometrical variations are thus important. In addition, wave propagation could be influenced by the operational and environmental conditions (*e.g.* temperature and humidity) of bonded repairs [244].

10.2. Automation and repeatability

With current repair technologies, composite bonded repairs are typically conducted by trained repair technicians by using manual processes [35]. Considering the increased usage of composites in both primary and secondary structural applications, automation is likely to be a major industry requirement in order to achieve robust, reliable and repeatable bonded repairs. Structural repairs with automated processes may also help reduce aircraft downtime and consequently be cost-effective. Although automation technologies exist in composite manufacturing, it would be a tall order to fully automate bonded composite repairs, given the inevitable variability involved in aircraft structural damage and repair scenario [52]. However, automating some of the key elements involved in bonded repairs such as damage assessment, material removal and surface preparation could significantly minimize processing inconsistencies and human errors [250]. Advanced non-destructive techniques such as laser ultrasonic scanning, pulse thermography, digital shearography could offer opportunities for non-contact, fast, automated damage assessment. Non-conventional machining technologies such as pulse laser ablation and abrasive waterjet milling could allow automated machining for material removal and also improve dimensional accuracy. Surface treatment techniques such as pulse laser and atmospheric plasma processes could be automated for consistent, uniform surface properties. In addition, in situ spectroscopy probes (e.g. Fourier Transform Infrared and Raman spectroscopy), when combined with surface treatment techniques, could provide an integrated and quantitative assessment of surface properties in order to achieve consistent interface bond strengths. Furthermore, integrated analysis and design software tools, which can accurately predict the effects of machining, curing, material and geometrical factors involved in bonded repairs, based on advanced numerical modelling techniques could ensure robust and optimised repairs.

11. Conclusions

Although the composite market, in terms of material utilisation in new products, is globally growing at a healthy rate, the science and technology that support this market growth need to progress at a similar rate for sustainability. This is lagging behind at the moment. With not-fully-mature composite design rules, manufacturing processes and joining technologies, the safety and efficiency of composite aircraft will largely depend on structural maintenance and repair. In this context, research and innovation in structural repair technologies play a critical role in composite aircraft MRO, especially for repairing composite components used in primary structural applications. Structural bonded repairs (e.g. scarf repairs) offer enhanced stress transfer mechanisms, joint efficiency and aerodynamics. But it is essential to develop robust, reliable and repeatable bonded repair technologies in order to have certifiable and cost-effective aircraft composite repairs. There is a strong need for improving the current composite repair technologies in several key areas-advanced non-destructive testing for damage assessment; non-conventional composite machining for material removal; advanced surface treatments for interface bonding; controlled cure conditions for patch fabrication; accurate analysis and design for optimised repairs; condition monitoring and automation for reliable and repeatable repairs.

In this review, several scientific challenges and opportunities have been identified in order to develop cost-effective and certifiable composite bonded repair technologies.

- As damage mechanisms in composites are often very complex because of their inherent non-homogenous and anisotropic material behaviour, non-destructive inspection poses several challenges for accurate and reliable damage assessment. Several non-destructive testing techniques are used for different damage types, but there is no unique technique available that can accurately evaluate all damage types in composite materials. Advanced techniques such as active thermography, digital shearography and laser ultrasonics could, however, offer opportunities (Section 5) for noncontact and automatable damage assessment.
- Accurate material removal for scarf repairs requires controlled composite machining processes. Conventional machining techniques are not ideal for machining complex geometries (*i.e.* damage removal and scarfing) and could introduce material damage due to applied machining forces and toolgenerated heat. Non-conventional techniques such as laser ablation and abrasive waterjet machining could, however, offer opportunities (Section 6) for developing accurate and automatable material removal processes.
- Surface preparation is essential to modify surface physical and chemical properties, increase surface energy and remove contaminants and weak boundary layers. Surfaces that are either untreated or insufficiently prepared prior to bonding could lead to parent-patch interface fracture and thus reduce the repair efficiency. A manual process could lead to non-uniform and inconsistent surface properties, and it may also contaminate the surface. Advanced surface treatments such as laser and plasma based processes could, however, enhance composite surface properties for bonding and thus offer opportunities (Section 7) for uniform and automatable processes.
- Suitable material systems and controlled curing conditions are essential to fabricate reliable repairs. The time required (which is directly related to aircraft downtime) to fabricate and consolidate bonded repairs could significantly influence the associated economical and operational aspects. The material systems that can be stored at ambient temperature and cured at low temperature, with short cycle time, could be ideal for bonded repairs, especially for *in situ* fabrication. Soft patch approaches (*e.g.* pre-preg or wet layup processes) in addition to out-of-autoclave processes and non-conventional curing techniques (*e.g.* induction) could offer opportunities for new developments (Section 8).
- The structural response of bonded repairs needs to be accurately analysed and designed to restore damaged components. Structural repairs should maximise the repair efficiency and minimise the risk of structural failure under service conditions. But the performance of bonded patches depends on several processing, material and geometrical parameters, and thus predicting the patch behaviour is complicated. Advanced computational modelling techniques (*e.g.* damage/fracture mechanics, statistical methods) could offer accurate numerical solutions for reliable and optimised repairs (Section 9). Advanced structural adhesives (*e.g.* toughened) could offer opportunities to enhance strength and long-term durability of bonded repairs.
- Human errors and inconsistencies in repair processes can significantly influence the structural strength and durability of bonded composite repairs. Post-repair non-destructive evaluation of bonded patches can detect physical disbonds and voids—but cannot identify weak interface bonds (*i.e.* kissing bonds) or under-cured regions. Without testing destructively, it is not possible to assess the bond strength of repair patches with current non-destructive techniques. With these current limitations, post-repair non-destructive

evaluation cannot reliably ensure the patch quality and thus cannot alone be used to accept or reject a bonded repair. However, certain elements of structural heath monitoring and automation, when incorporated in bonded repairs, could offer opportunities to ensure reliability and repeatability.

References

- Metz B, Davidson O, Bosch P, Dave R, Meyer L, editors. Climate change 2007: mitigation of climate change (IPCC report). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2008.
- [2] Solomon S, Plattner GK, Knutti R, Friedlingstein P. Irreversible climate change due to carbon dioxide emissions. In: Proceeding of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America; 2009.106 (6) p. 1704–1709.
- [3] Mahashabde A, Wolfe P, Ashok A, Dorbian C, He Q, Fan A, et al. Assessing the environmental impacts of aircraft noise and emissions. Progress in Aerospace Sciences 2011;47:15–52.
- [4] Lee DS, Fahey DW, Forster PM, Newton PJ, Wit RCN, Lim LL, et al. Aviation and global climate change in the 21st century. Atmospheric Environment 2009;43(22):3520–3537.
- [5] Boucher O. Atmospheric science: seeing through contrails. Nature Climate Change 2011;1:24–25.
- [6] Lee JJ. Can we accelerate the improvement of energy efficiency in aircraft systems? Energy Conversion and Management 2010;51:189–196.
- [7] Lawrence P. Meeting the challenge of aviation emissions: an aircraft industry perspective. Technology Analysis and Strategic Management; 2009. 21 (1) p. 79–92.
- [8] Mangalgiri PD. Composite materials for aerospace applications. Bulletin of Materials Science 1999;22(3):657–664.
- [9] Soutis C. Carbon fiber reinforced plastics in aircraft construction. Materials Science and Engineering A 2005;412:171–176.
- [10] Edwards T. Composite materials revolutionise aerospace engineering. Ingenia 2008;36:24–28.
- [11] Hale J. Boeing 787 from the ground up. Aero Magazine Boeing 2006;24 (4):17–23.
- [12] Baker A, Dutton S, Kelly D. Composite materials for aircraft structures. Reston: AIAA Education Series; 2004.
- [13] Soutis C. Fibre reinforced composites in aircraft construction. Progress in Aerospace Sciences 2005;41(2):143–151.
- [14] Hinrichsen J, Bautista C. The challenge of reducing both airframe weight and manufacturing cost. Air & Space Europe 2001;3:119–121.
- [15] Frank E, Hermanutz F, Buchmeiser MR. Carbon fibers: precursors, manufacturing, and properties. Macromolecular Materials and Engineering 2012;297 (6):493–501.
- [16] Kiskan B, Ghosh NN, Yagci Y. Polybenzoxazine-based composites as highperformance materials. Polymer International 2011;60(2):167–177.
- [17] Bibo GA, Hogg PJ, Backhouse R, Mills A. Carbon-fibre non-crimp fabric laminates for cost-effective damage-tolerant structures. Composites Science and Technology 1998;58(1):129–143.
- [18] Brandt J, Drechsler K, Arendts FJ. Mechanical performance of composites based on various three-dimensional woven-fibre preforms. Composites Science and Technology 1996;56(3):381–386.
- [19] Lukaszewicz DHJA C, Potter KD. The engineering aspects of automated prepreg layup: history, present and future. Composites Part B Engineering 2012;43(3):997–1009.
- [20] Noor AK, Venneri SL, Paul DB, Hopkins MA. Structures technology for future aerospace systems. Computers & Structures 2000;74(5):507–519.
- [21] Bannister M. Challenges for composites into the next millennium—a reinforcement perspective. Composites Part A Applied Science and Manufacturing 2001;32(7):901–910.
- [22] Barbero EJ. Introduction to composite materials design. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 2011.
- [23] Soden PD, Kaddour AS, Hinton MJ. Recommendations for designers and researchers resulting from the world-wide failure exercise. Composites Science and Technology 2004;64:589–604.
- [24] Echaabi J, Trochu F, Gauvin R. Review of failure criteria of fibrous composite materials. Polymer Composites 1996;17(6):786–798.
- [25] Orifici AC, Herszberg I, Thomson RS. Review of methodologies for composite material modelling incorporating failure. Composite Structures 2008;86:194–210.
- [26] Catalanotti G, Camanho PP, Marques AT. Three-dimensional failure criteria for fiber-reinforced laminates. Composite Structures 2013;95:63–79.
- [27] Scida D, Aboura Z, Benzeggagh ML, Bocherens E. A micromechanics model for 3D elasticity and failure of woven-fibre composite materials. Composites Science and Technology 1999;59:505–517.
- [28] Daniel IM, Werner BT, Fenner JS. Strain-rate-dependent failure criteria for composites. Composites Science and Technology 2011;71:357–364.
- [29] Selzer R, Friedrich K. Mechanical properties and failure behaviour of carbon fibre-reinforced polymer composites under the influence of moisture. Composites Part A Applied Science and Manufacturing 1997;28:595–604.
- [30] LLorca J, González C, Molina-Aldareguía JM, Segurado J, Seltzer R, Sket F, et al. Multiscale modeling of composite materials: a roadmap towards virtual testing. Advanced Materials 2011;23(44):5130–5147.

- [31] Spearing SM, Lagace PA, McManus HLN. On the role of length-scale in the prediction of failure of composite structures: assessment and needs. Applied Composite Materials 1998;5:139–149.
- [32] Aviation Safety: Status of FAA's actions to oversee the safety of composite airplanes. US Government Accountability of Office report: GAO-11-849; September 2011.
- [33] Lucintel: Global composites quarterly market analysis Q4 2009–Q4 2012. Market reports on composites; December 2011.
- [34] Mason K. Non-destructive inspection broadens its scope. High Performance Composites 2006 May.
- [35] Wood K. In-situ composite repair builds on basics. High Performance Composites 2008 November.
- [36] Bazargan M. Airline operation and scheduling. Farnham: Ashgate Publishing Limited; 2010.
- [37] Cantwell WJ, Morton J. The significance of damage and defects and their detection in composite materials: a review. The Journal of Strain Analysis for Engineering Design 1992;27(1):29–42.
- [38] Shyr TW, Pan YH. Impact resistance and damage characteristics of composite laminates. Composite Structures 2003;62(2):193–203.
- [39] Davies GAO, Zhang X. Impact damage prediction in carbon composite structures. International Journal of Impact Engineering 1995;16(1):149–170.
- [40] Richardson MOW, Wisheart MJ. Review of low-velocity impact properties of composite materials. Composites Part A Applied Science and Manufacturing 1996;27(12):1123–1131.
- [41] Abrate S. Impact on laminated composite materials. Applied Mechanics Reviews 1991;44(4):155–190.
- [42] Prichard JC, Hogg PJ. The role of impact damage in post-impact compression testing. Composites 1990;21(6):503–511.
- [43] Kumar P, Rai B. Delaminations of barely visible impact damage in CFRP laminates. Composite Structures 1993;23(4):313–318.
- [44] Polimeno U, Meo M. Detecting barely visible impact damage detection on aircraft composites structures. Composite Structures 2009;91(4):398–402.
- [45] Armstrong KB, W Cole W, Bevan G. Care and repair of advanced composites. London: SAE International; 2005.
- [46] Soutis C, Hu FZ. Design and performance of bonded patch repairs of composite structures. In: Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part G: Journal of Aerospace Engineering; 1997. 211(4) p. 263–271.
- [47] Camanho PP, Lambert M. A design methodology for mechanically fastened joints in laminated composite materials. Composites Science and Technology 2006;66(15):3004–3020.
- [48] Camanho PP, Matthews FL. A progressive damage model for mechanically fastened joints in composite laminates. Journal of Composite Materials 1999;33(24):2248–2280 December.
- [49] Wang CH, Gunnion AJ. Optimum shapes of scarf repairs. Composites Part A Applied Science and Manufacturing 2009;40(9):1407–1418.
- [50] Charalambides MN, Hardouin R, Kinloch AJ, Matthews FL. Adhesivelybonded repairs to fibre-composite materials I. Experimental. Composites Part A Applied Science and Manufacturing 1998;29(11):1371–1381.
- [51] Gunnion AJ, Herszberg I. Parametric study of scarf joints in composite structures. Composite Structures 2006;75(1):364–376.
- [52] Gardiner G. Primary structural repair: the quest for quality. High Performance Composites 2011 November.
- [53] Lucintel: Growth opportunities for composites in aerospace MRO market 2011–2016: Trends, forecast and opportunity analysis. Market reports on composites; October 2011.
- [54] Banea MD, da Silva LFM.. Adhesively bonded joints in composite materials: an overview. In: Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part L: Journal of Materials: Design and Applications; 2009. 223(1) p. 1–18.
- [55] Baker A. Bonded composite repair of fatigue-cracked primary aircraft structure. Composite Structures 1999;47(1):431–443.
- [56] Soutis C, Duan DM, Goutas P. Compressive behaviour of CFRP laminates repaired with adhesively bonded external patches. Composite Structures 1999;45(4):289–301.
- [57] RDSG Campilho, de Moura MFSF, Domingues JJMS. Modelling single and double-lap repairs on composite materials. Composites Science and Technology 2005;65(13):1948–1958.
- [58] Whittingham B, Baker AA, Harman A, Bitton D. Micrographic studies on adhesively bonded scarf repairs to thick composite aircraft structure. Composites Part A Applied Science and Manufacturing 2009;40(9):1419–1432.
- [59] Latorella KA, Prabhu PV. A review of human error in aviation maintenance and inspection. International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics 2000;26: 133–161.
- [60] Scott IG, Scala CM. A review of non-destructive testing of composite materials. NDT International 1982;15(2):75–86.
- [61] Teagle PR. The quality control and non-destructive evaluation of composite aerospace components. Composites 1983;14(2):115–128.
- [62] Summerscales J, editor. Non-destructive testing of fibre-reinforced plastics composites, Volume 1. Barking: Elsevier; 1987.
- [63] Summerscales J, editor. Non-destructive testing of fibre-reinforced plastics composites, Volume 2. Barking: Elsevier; 1990.
- [64] Baaren J. Study on visual inspection of composite structures. European Aviation Safety Agency, EASA report 2007/3; 2009.
- [65] Hsu DK, Peters JJ, Fei D, Barnard DJ, Dayal V. Imaging of flaws in composite honeycomb aircraft structures using instrumented tap test. In: Proceeding of SPIE, non-destructive evaluation of aging materials and composites III. Volume 3585, 236: 8 February; 1999.

- [66] Roach D. Assessing conventional and advanced NDI for composite aircraft. High Performance Composites 2008 July.
- [67] Blitz J, Simpson G. Ultrasonic methods of non-destructive testing. London: Cahpman&Hall; 1996.
- [68] Garnier C, Pastor ML, Eyma F, Lorrain B. The detection of aeronautical defects in situ on composite structures using non-destructive testing. Composite Structures 2011;93:1328–1336.
- [69] Castaings M, Cawley P, Farlow R, Hayward G. Single-sided inspection of composite materials using air-coupled ultrasound. Journal of Nondestructive Evaluation 1998;17(1):37–45.
- [70] Cawley P. The rapid non-destructive inspection of large composite structures. Composites 1994;25(5):351–357.
- [71] Dubois M, Drake TE. Evolution of industrial laser-ultrasonic systems for the inspection of composites. Nondestructive Testing and Evaluation 2011;26: 213–228.
- [72] Blouin A, Neron C, Campagne B, Monchalin JP. Applications of laser tapping and laser ultrasonics to aerospace composite structures. Insight 2010;52 (3):130–133.
- [73] Davies SJ, Edwards C, Taylor GS, Palmer SB. Laser-generated ultrasound: its properties, mechanisms and multifarious applications. Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics 1993;26:329–348.
- [74] Monchalin JP. Optical detection of ultrasound at a distance using a confocal Fabry-Perot interferometer. Applied Physics Letters 1985;47(1):14–16.
- [75] Avdelidis NP, Hawtin BC, Almond DP. Transient thermography in the assessment of defects of aircraft composites. NDT & E International 2003;36:433–439.
- [76] Hung YY, Chen YS, Ng SP, Liu L, Huang YH, Luk BL, et al. Review and comparison of shearography and active thermography for nondestructive evaluation. Materials Science and Engineering 2009;64:73–112.
- [77] Almond DP, Peng W. Thermal imaging of composites. Journal of Microscopy 2001;201:163–170.
- [78] Avdelidis NP, Almond DP, Dobbinson A, Hawtin BC, Castanedo CI, Maldague X. Aircraft composites assessment by means of transient thermal NDT. Progress in Aerospace Sciences 2004;40:143–162.
- [79] Krishnapillai M, Jones R, Marshall IH, Bannister M, Rajic N. Thermography as a tool for damage assessment. Composite Structures 2005;67:149–155.
- [80] Genest M, Martinez M, Mrad N, Renaud G, Fahr A. Pulsed thermography for non-destructive evaluation and damage growth monitoring of bonded repairs. Composite Structures 2009;88:112–120.
- [81] Hung YY. Applications of digital shearography for testing of composite structures. Composites Part B Engineering 1999;30:765–773.
- [82] Steinchen W, Yang L, Kupfer G, Mackel P. Non-destructive testing of aerospace composite materials using digital shearography. In: Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers Part G: Journal of Aerospace Engineering; 1998.212(G1) p. 21–30.
- [83] Gryzagoridis J, Findeis D. Impact damage detection on composites using optical NDT techniques. Insight 2010;52(5):248–251.
- [84] Ruzek R, Lohonka R, Jironc J. Ultrasonic C-Scan and shearography NDI techniques evaluation of impact defects identification. NDT & E International 2006;39:132–142.
- [85] Hung YY, Luo WD, Lin L, Shang HM. Evaluating the soundness of bonding using shearography. Composite Structures 2000;50(4):353–362.
- [86] Gryzagoridis J, Findeis D. Benchmarking shearographic NDT for composites. Insight 2008;50(5):249–252.
- [87] Sloan J. Machining carbon composites: risky business. High Performance Composites 2010 May.
- [88] Sheikh-Ahmad JY. Machining of polymer composites. New York: Springer; 2009.
- [89] Koplev A, Lystrup A, Vorm T. The cutting process, chips, and cutting forces in machining CFRP. Composites 1983;14(4):371–376.
- [90] König W, Ch. Wulf C, Gra P, Willerscheid H. Machining of fibre reinforced plastics. CIRP Annals—Manufacturing Technology 1985;34(2):537–548.
- [91] Mason K. The craft of aircraft repair. High Performance Composites 2005 May.
- [92] Bhatnagar N, Ramakrishnan N, Naik NK, Komanduri R. On the machining of fibre reinforced plastic (FRP) composite laminates. International Journal of Machine Tools & Manufacture 1995;35(5):701–716.
- [93] Ferreira JR, Coppini NL, Miranda GWA. Machining optimisation in carbon fibre reinforced composite materials. Journal of Materials Processing Technology 1999;92:135–140.
- [94] Westerman EA, Roll PE. Mechanical scarfing apparatus. US Patent 4987,700; January 1991.
- [95] Westerman EA, Roll PE. Scarfing apparatus. US Patent 5207,541; May 1993.
- [96] Dubey AK, Yadava V. Laser beam machining—a review. International Journal of Machine Tools & Manufacture 2008;48:609–628.
- [97] Völkermeyer F, Fischer F, Stute U, Kracht D. Laser-based approach for bonded repair of carbon fiber reinforced plastics. Physics Procedia 2011;12:537–542.[98] Fischer F, Romoli L, Kling R. Laser-based repair of carbon fiber reinforced
- plastics. CIRP Annals—Manufacturing Technology 2010;59:203–206. [99] Goeke A, Emmelmann C. Influence of laser cutting parameters on CFRP part
- (solid content of the second secon
- [100] Herzog D, Jaeschke P, Meier O, Haferkamp H. Investigations on the thermal effect caused by laser cutting with respect to static strength of CFRP. International Journal of Machine Tools & Manufacture 2008;48:1464–1473.
- [101] Mathew J, Goswami GL, Ramakrishnan N, Naik NK. Parametric studies on pulsed Nd:YAG laser cutting of carbon fibre reinforced plastic composites. Journal of Materials Processing Technology 1999;89:198–203.

- [102] Cenna AA, Mathew P. Analysis and prediction of laser cutting parameters of fibre reinforced plastics (FRP) composite materials. International Journal of Machine Tools & Manufacture 2002;42:105–113.
- [103] Haferkamp H, von Alvensleben F, Seebaum D, Goede M, Puster T. Air contaminants generated during laser processing of organic materials and protective measures. Journal of Applied Laser Applications 1998;10:109–113.
- [104] Momber A, Kovacevic R. Principles of abrasive waterjet machining. New York: Springer; 1998.
- [105] Hocheng H, Tsai HY, Shiue JJ, Wang B. Feasibility study of abrasive waterjet milling of fibre-reinforced plastics. Transaction of the ASME, the Journal of Manufacturing Science and Engineering 1997;119(2):133–142.
- [106] Arola D, Ramulu M. Micro-mechanisms of material removal in abrasive waterjet machining. Processing of Advanced Materials 1994;4:37–47.
- [107] Ramulu M, Arola D. Water jet and abrasive water jet cutting of unidirectional graphite/epoxy composite. Composites 1993;24(4):299–308.
- [108] Shanmugam DK, Chen FL, Siores E, Brandt M. Comparative study of jetting machining technologies over laser machining technology for cutting composite materials. Composite Structures 2002;57:289–296.
- [109] Dunsky C, Tacheron P, Hashish M. Waterjet techniques for composite material jet engine component repair—phase 1. Technical report, defense technical information center; 1996.
- [110] Shanmugam DK, Nguyen T, Wang J. A study of delamination on graphite/ epoxy composites in abrasive waterjet machining. Composites Part A Applied Science and Manufacturing 2008;39:923–929.
- [111] Kinloch AJ. Adhesion and adhesives: science and technology. London: Chapman and Hall; 1987.
- [112] Da Silva LFM, Öchsner A, Adams RD, editors. Handbook of adhesion Technology. Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg; 2011.
- [113] Baldan A. Adhesively-bonded joints and repairs in metallic alloys, polymers and composite materials: adhesives, adhesion theories and surface pretreatment. Journal of Materials Science 2004;39(1):1–49.
- [114] Awaja F, Gilbert M, Kelly G, Fox B, Pigram PJ. Adhesion of polymers. Progress in Polymer Science 2009;34:948–968.
- [115] Baldan A. Adhesion phenomena in bonded joints. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2012;38:95–116.
- [116] Fourche G. An overview of the basic aspects of polymer adhesion. Part I: Fundamentals. Polymer Engineering & Science 1995;35(12):957–967.
- [117] Kendall K. The adhesion and surface energy of elastic solids. Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics 1971;4(8):1186–1195.
- [118] Fourche G. An overview of the basic aspects of polymer adhesion. Part II: Application to surface treatments. Polymer Engineering & Science 1995;35 (12):968–975.
- [119] Wingfield JRJ. Treatment of composite surfaces for adhesive bonding. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 1993;13(3):151–156.
- [120] Liston EM, Martinu L, Wertheimer MR. Plasma surface modification of polymers for improved adhesion: a critical review. Journal of Adhesion Science and Technology 1993;7:1091–1127.
- [121] Liston EM. Plasma treatment for improved bonding—a review. The Journal of Adhesion 1989;30:199–218.
- [122] Leahy W, Barron V, Buggy M, Young T, Mas A, Schue F, et al. Plasma surface treatment of aerospace materials for enhanced adhesive bonding. The Journal of Adhesion 2001;77(3):215–249.
- [123] Chan CM, Ko TM, Hiraoka H. Polymer surface modification by plasmas and photons. Surface Science Reports 1996;24:1–54.
- [124] Shanahan MER, Monnier CB. Effects of plasma treatment on the adhesion of an epoxy composite. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 1996;16(2):129–135.
- [125] Kim JK, Kim HS, Lee DG. Investigation of optimal surface treatments for carbon/epoxy composite adhesive joints. The Journal of Adhesion Science and Technology 2003;17(3):329–352.
- [126] Katnam KB, Comer AJ, Stanley WF, Buggy M, Ellingboe AR, Young TM. Characterising pre-preg and non-crimp-fabric composite single lap bonded joints. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2011;31(7):679–686.
- [127] Comer AJ, Katnam KB, Stanley WF, Young TM. Characterising the behaviour of composite single lap bonded joints using digital image correlation. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2013;40:215–223.
- [128] Schutze A, Jeong JY, Babayan SE, Park J, Selwyn GS, Hicks RF. The atmospheric-pressure plasma jet: a review and comparison to other plasma sources. IEEE Transactions on Plasma Science 1998;26(6):1685–1694.
- [129] Canal C, Molina R, Bertran E, Erra P. Wettability, ageing and recovery process of plasma-treated polyamide 6. Journal of Adhesion Science and Technology 2004;18(9):1077–1089.
- [130] Lippert T. Interaction of photons with polymers: from surface modification to ablation. Plasma Processes and Polymers 2005;2(7):525–546.
- [131] Yao YL, Chen H, Zhang W. Time scale effects in laser material removal: a review. International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology 2005;26:598–608.
- [132] Bernard Q, Fois M, Grisel M, Laurens P. Surface treatment of carbon/epoxy and glass/epoxy composites with an excimer laser beam. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2006;26:543–549.
- [133] Buchman A, Dodiuk H, Rotel M, Zahavi J. Laser-induced adhesion enhancement of polymer composites and metal alloys. Journal of Adhesion Science and Technology 1994;18:1211–1224.
- [134] Rotel M, Zahavi J, Buchman A, Dodiuk H. Preadhesion laser surface treatment of carbon fiber reinforced PEEK composite. The Journal of Adhesion 1995;55: 77–97.

- [135] Rotel M, Zahavi J, Tamir S, Buchman A, Dodiuk H. Pre-bonding technology based on excimer laser surface treatment. Applied Surface Science 2000;154: 610–616.
- [136] Caminero MA, Pavlopoulou S, Lopez-Pedrosa M, Nicolaisson BG, Pinna C, Soutis C. Analysis of adhesively bonded repairs in composites: damage detection and prognosis. Composite Structures 2013;95:500–517.
- [137] Wang J, Zhou Z, Vodicka R, Chiu WK. Selection of patch and adhesive materials for helicopter battle damage repair applications. Composite Structures 2009;91:278–285.
- [138] Kohli DK. Improved 121 °C curing epoxy film adhesive for composite bonding and repair applications: FM 300-2 adhesive system. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 1999;19:231–242.
- [139] Kinard J, Colton J. Material systems for rapid manufacture of composite structures. Polymer Composites 2000;21:918–930.
- [140] Gorovaya TA, Korotkov VN. Quick cure of thermosetting composites. Composites Part A Applied Science and Manufacturing 1996;27A:953–960.
- [141] Sherwin GR. Non-autoclave processing of advanced composite repairs. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 1999;19:155–159.
- [142] Stango RJ, Wang SS. Process-induced residual thermal stresses in advanced fiber-reinforced composite laminates. Journal of Engineering for Industry 1984;106:48–54.
- [143] Huang CK, Yang SY, Chen CC. Influence of processing on warpage of composite parts. Journal of Advanced Materials 2005;37(4):17–22.
- [144] White SR, Hahn HT. Cure cycle optimization for the reduction of processinginduced residual stresses in composite materials. Journal of Composite Materials 1993;27(14):1352–1378.
- [145] Grunenfelder LK, Nutt SR. Void formation in composite pre-pregs—effect of dissolved moisture. Composites Science and Technology 2010;70:2304–2309.
- [146] Pearce PJ, Arnott DR, Camilleri A, Kindermann MR, Mathys GJ, Wilson AR. Cause and effect of void formation during vacuum bag curing of epoxy film adhesives. Journal of Adhesion Science and Technology 1998;12(6):567–584.
- [147] Loos AC, GS Springer GS. Curing of epoxy matrix composites. Journal of Composite Materials 1983;17:135–169.
- [148] Brostow W, Glass NM. Cure progress in epoxy systems: dependence on temperature and time. Materials Research Innovations 2003;7:125–132.
- [149] Rai N, Pitchumani R. Optimal cure cycles for the fabrication of thermosettingmatrix composites. Polymer Composites 1997;18(4):566–581.
- [150] Olivier P, Cottu JP. Optimisation of the co-curing of two different composites with the aim of minimising residual curing stress levels. Composite Science and Technology 1998;58(5):645–651.
- [151] Yang ZL, Lee S. Optimized curing of thick section composite laminates. Materials and Manufacturing Processes 2001;16(4):541–560.
- [152] Hahn HT, Pagano NJ. Curing stresses in composite laminates. Journal of Composite Materials 1975;9:91–105.
- [153] Agius SL, Magniez KJC, Fox BL. Cure behaviour and void development within rapidly cured out-of-autoclave composites. Composites Part B Engineering 2013;47:230–237.
- [154] Eom Y, Boogh L, Michaud V, Sunderland P, Manson JA. Stress-initiated void formation during cure of a three-dimensionally constrained thermoset resin. Polymer Engineering and Science 2001;41(3):492–503.
- [155] Davies LW, Day RJ, Bond D, Nesbitt A, Ellis J, Gardon E. Effect of cure cycle heat transfer rates on the physical and mechanical properties of an epoxy matrix composite. Composites Science and Technology 2007;67:1892–1899.
- [156] Guo ZS, Du S, Zhang B. Temperature field of thick thermoset composite laminates during cure process. Composites Science and Technology 2005;65: 517–523.
- [157] Elaldi F, Elaldi P. A study on curing processes and environmental effects for rapid composite repair. Journal of Reinforced Plastics and Composites 2011;30(9):749–755.
- [158] Pen LS, Chou RC, Wang ASD, Binienda WK. The effect of matrix shrinkage on damage accumulation in composites. Journal of Composite Materials 1989;23:570–586.
- [159] Djokic D, Johnston A, Rogers A, Lee-Sullivan P, Mrad N. Residual stress development during the composite patch bonding process: measurement and modelling. Composites Part A Applied Science and Manufacturing 2002;33:277–288.
- [160] Rider AN, Wang CH, Cao J. Internal resistance heating for homogeneous curing of adhesively bonded repairs. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2011;31:168–176.
- [161] Singh A. Radiation processing of carbon-reinforced advanced composites. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms 2001;185:50–54.
- [162] Thostenson ET, Chou TW. Microwave and conventional curing of thicksection thermoset composite laminates: experiment and simulation. Polymer Composites 2001;22:197–212.
- [163] Mahdi S, Kim HJ, Gama BA, Yarlagadda S, Gillespie JW. A comparison of ovencured and induction-cured adhesively bonded composite joints. Journal of Composite Materials 2003;37:519–542.
- [164] Ramakrishnan B, Zhu L, Pitchumani R. Curing of composites using internal resistive heating. Journal of Manufacturing Science and Engineering 2000;122:124–131.
- [165] Joseph C, Viney C. Electrical resistance curing of carbon-fibre/epoxy composites. Composites Science and Technology 2000;60:315–319.
- [166] Chester RJ, Roberts JD. Void minimization in adhesive joints. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 1989;9(3):129–138.

- [167] Tzetzis D, Hogg PJ. The influence of surface morphology on the interfacial adhesion and fracture behavior of vacuum infused carbon fiber reinforced polymeric repairs. Polymer Composites 2008;29(1):92–108.
- [168] Da Silva LFM, Adams RD, Gibbs M. Manufacture of adhesive joints and bulk specimens with high-temperature adhesives. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2004;24(1):69–83.
- [169] Newsom CM. Portable vacuum device and method of using same. US Patent 4554,036; November 1985.
- [170] Kociemba F, Soro D. Equipment for on-site repair of a composite structure with a damaged zone and corresponding method. US Patent 6206,067 B1; March 2001.
- [171] Kinloch AJ. Adhesives in engineering. In: Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part G: Journal of Aerospace Engineering. 1997. 211 p. 307–335.
- [172] Godwin EW, Matthews FL. A review of the strength of joints in fibrereinforced plastics: Part 1. Mechanically fastened joints. Composites 1980;11(3):155–160.
- [173] Thoppul SD, Finegan J, Gibson RF. Mechanics of mechanically fastened joints in polymer-matrix composite structures—a review. Composites Science and Technology 2009;69:301–329.
- [174] Van Straalen IJJ, Wardenier J, Vogelesang LB, Soetens F. Structural adhesive bonded joints in engineering: drafting design rules. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 1998;18:41–49.
- [175] Davis M, Bond D. Principles and practices of adhesive bonded structural joints and repairs. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 1999;19:91–105.
- [176] Harman AB, Wang CH. Improved design methods for scarf repairs to highly strained composite aircraft structure. Composite Structures 2006;75: 132–144.
- [177] Wang CH, Gunnion AJ. On the design methodology of scarf repairs to composite laminates. Composites Science and Technology 2008;68:35–46.
- [178] Baker AA, Chester RJ, Hugo GR, Radtke TC. Scarf repairs to highly strained graphite/epoxy structure. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 1999;19:161–171.
- [179] Chalkley P, Baker AA. Development of a generic repair joint for certification of bonded composite repairs. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 1999;19:121–132.
- [180] Kimiaeifar A, Toft H, Lund E, Thomsen OT, Sørensen JD. Reliability analysis of adhesive bonded scarf joints. Engineering Structures 2012;35:281–287.
- [181] Diaz J, Pereira F, Romera L, Hernandez S. Probabilistic assessment of the structural failure of single-lap bonded joints. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2012;37:70–78.
- [182] Sutherland LS, Soares CG. Review of probabilistic models of the strength of composite materials. Reliability Engineering and System Safety 1997;56: 183–196.
- [183] Katnam KB, Stevenson JPJ, Stanley WF, Buggy M, Young TM. Tensile strength of two-part epoxy paste adhesives: Influence of mixing technique and microvoid formation. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2011;31 (7):666–673.
- [184] Adams RD, Drinkwater BW. Non-destructive testing of adhesively-bonded joints. NDT & E International 1997;30(2):93–98.
- [185] Volkersen O. Die Nietkraftverteilung in Zugbeanspruchten Nietverbindungen mit Konstanten Laschenquerschnitten. Luftfahrtforschung 1938;15:41–47.
- [186] Goland M, Reissner E. The stresses in cemented joints. Journal of Applied Mechanics 1944;1:A17–A27.
- [187] Hart-Smith LJ. Adhesive bonded scarf and stepped-lap joints. USA: McDonnell Douglas Corporation; 1973 Technical report NASA CR 112235, Douglas Aircraft Company.
- [188] Hart-Smith LJ. Adhesive bonded single lap joints. USA: McDonnell Douglas Corporation; 1973 Technical report NASA CR 112236, Douglas Aircraft Company.
- [189] Hart-Smith LJ. Adhesive bonded double lap joints. USA: McDonnell Douglas Corporation; 1973 Technical report NASA CR 112237, Douglas Aircraft Company.
- [190] Da Silva LFM, Das Neves PJC, Adams RD, Spelt JK. Analytical models of adhesively bonded joints—Part I: Literature survey. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2009;29:319–330.
- [191] Tong L, Sun X. Adhesive elements for stress analysis of bonded patch to curved thin-walled structures. Computational Mechanics 2003;30:143–154.
- [192] He X. A review of finite element analysis of adhesively bonded joints. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2011;31:248–264.
- [193] Charalambides MN, Kinloch AJ, Matthews FL. Adhesively-bonded repairs to fibre-composite materials II: Finite element modelling. Composites Part A Applied Science and Manufacturing 1998;29A:1383–1396.
- [194] MFSF De Moura, Goncalves JPM, Chousal JAG, Campilho RDSG. Cohesive and continuum mixed-mode damage models applied to the simulation of the mechanical behaviour of bonded joints. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2008;28:419–426.
- [195] Campilho RDSG, Demoura MFSF, Domingues JJMS. Stress and failure analyses of scarf repaired CFRP laminates using a cohesive damage model. Journal of Adhesion Science Technology 2007;21(9):855–870.
- [196] Duncan B, Dean G. Measurements and models for design with modern adhesives. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2003;23:141–149.
- [197] Wang CH, Chalkley P. Plastic yielding of a film adhesive under multi-axial stresses. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2000;20:155–164.

- [198] Da Silva LFM, Adams RD. Measurement of the mechanical properties of structural adhesives in tension and shear over a wide range of temperatures. Journal of Adhesion Science and Technology 2005;19(2):109–141.
- [199] Katnam KB, Sargent JP, Crocombe AD, Khoramishad H, Ashcroft IA. Characterization of moisture-dependent cohesive zone properties for adhesively bonded joints. Engineering Fracture Mechanics 2010;77(16):3105–3119.
- [200] Katnam KB, Comer AJ, Stanley WF, Buggy M, Young TM. Investigating tensile behaviour of toughened epoxy paste adhesives using circumferentially notched cylindrical bulk specimens. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2012;37:3–10.
- [201] Kanouté P, Boso DP, Chaboche JL, Schrefler BA. Multiscale methods for composites: a review. Archives of Computational Methods in Engineering 2009;16(1):31–75.
- [202] Stroud WJ, Krishnamurthy T, Smith SA. Probabilistic and possibilistic analyses of the strength of a bonded joint. CMES Computer Modelling in Engineering & Sciences 2002;3(6):755–772.
- [203] O'Mahoney DC, Katnam KB, O'Dowd NP, McCarthy CT, Young TM. Taguchi analysis of bonded composite single-lap joints using a combined interfaceadhesive damage model. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2013;40:168–178.
- [204] Da Silva LFM, Lima RFT. Teixeira RMS. Development of a computer program for the design of adhesive joints. The Journal of Adhesion 2009;85 (12):889–918.
- [205] Marques EAS, Da Silva LFM. Joint strength optimization of adhesively bonded patches. The Journal of Adhesion 2008;84(11):915–934.
- [206] Da Silva LFM, Lopes MJCQ. Joint strength optimization by the mixed-adhesive technique. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2009;29 (5):509–514.
- [207] Kinloch AJ, Shaw SJ. The fracture resistance of a toughened epoxy adhesive. The Journal of Adhesion 1981;12(1):59–77.
- [208] Kinloch AJ, Lee JH, Taylor AC, Sprenger S, Eger C, Egan D. Toughening structural adhesives via nano- and micro-phase inclusions. The Journal of Adhesion 2003;79:867–873.
- [209] Da Silva LFM, Adams RD. Techniques to reduce the peel stresses in adhesive joints with composites. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2007;27:227–235.
- [210] Ashcroft IA, Wahab MMA, Crocombe AD, Hughes DJ, Shaw SJ. The effect of environment on the fatigue of bonded composite joints. Part 1: Testing and fractography. Composites Part A Applied Science and Manufacturing 2001;32:45–58.
- [211] Wahab MMA, Ashcroft IA, Crocombe AD, Hughes DJ, Shaw SJ. The effect of environment on the fatigue of bonded composite joints. Part 2: Fatigue threshold prediction. Composites Part A Applied Science and Manufacturing 2001;32:59–69.
- [212] Baldan A. Adhesively-bonded joints in metallic alloys, polymers and composite materials: mechanical and environmental durability performance. Journal of Materials Science 2004;39:4729–4797.
- [213] Kinloch AJ, Young RJ. Fracture behaviour of polymers. London and New York: Applied Science; 1983.
- [214] Dessureault M, Spelt JK. Observations of fatigue crack initiation and propagation in an epoxy adhesive. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 1997;17:183–195.
- [215] Quaresimin M, Ricotta M. Fatigue behaviour and damage evolution of single lap bonded joints in composite material. Composites Science and Technology 2006;66:176–187.
- [216] Crocombe AD. Durability modelling concepts and tools for the cohesive environmental degradation of bonded structures. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 1997;17(3):229–238.
- [217] Wahab MMA, Ashcroft IA, Crocombe AD, Shaw SJ. Diffusion of moisture in adhesively bonded joints. The Journal of Adhesion 2001;77(1):43–80.
- [218] Katnam KB, Crocombe AD, Sugiman S, Khoramishad H. Static and fatigue failures of adhesively bonded laminate joints in moist environments. International Journal of Damage Mechanics 2011;20(8):1217–1242 November.
- [219] Baker A. A proposed approach for certification of bonded composite repairs to flight-critical airframe structure. Applied Composite Materials 2011;18: 337–369.
- [220] Baker A, Bitton D, Wang J. Development of a proof test for through-life monitoring of bond integrity in adhesively bonded repairs to aircraft structure. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2012;36:65–76.
- [221] Baker A, Rajic N, Davis C. Towards a practical structural health monitoring technology for patched cracks in aircraft structure. Composites Part A Applied Science and Manufacturing 2009;40:1340–1352.
- [222] Qing XP, Beard SJ, Kumar A, Hannum R. A real-time active smart patch system for monitoring the integrity of bonded repair on an aircraft structure. Smart Materials and Structures 2006;15:N66–N73.
- [223] Boller C. Next generation structural health monitoring and its integration into aircraft design. International Journal of Systems Science 2000;31 (11):1333–1349.

- [224] Staszewski WJ, Mahzan S, Traynor R. Health monitoring of aerospace composite structures—active and passive approach. Composites Science and Technology 2009;69:1678–1685.
- [225] Diamanti K, Soutis C. Structural health monitoring techniques for aircraft composite structures. Progress in Aerospace Sciences 2010;46:342–352.
- [226] Staszewski WJ. Intelligent signal processing for damage detection in composite materials. Composites Science and Technology 2002;62:941–950.
- [227] Baker W, McKenzie I, Jones R. Development of life extension strategies for Australian military aircraft, using structural health monitoring of composite repairs and joints. Composite Structures 2004;66:133–143.
- [228] Murayama H, Kageyama K, Uzawa K, Ohara K, Igawa H. Strain monitoring of a single-lap joint with embedded fiber-optic distributed sensors. Structural Health Monitoring 2012;11(3):325–344.
- [229] Zhao X, Gao H, Zhang G, Ayhan B, Yan F, Kwan C, et al. Active health monitoring of an aircraft wing with embedded piezoelectric sensor/actuator network: I. Defect detection, localization and growth monitoring. Smart Materials and Structures 2007;16:1208–1217.
- [230] Crocombe AD, Ong CY, Chan CM, Wahab MMA, Ashcroft IA. Investigating fatigue damage evolution in adhesively bonded structures using back-face strain measurement. Journal of Adhesion 2002;78(9):745–776.
- [231] Katnam KB, Crocombe AD, Khoramishad H, Ashcroft IA. The static failure of adhesively bonded metal laminate structures: a cohesive zone approach. Journal of Adhesion Science and Technology 2011;25(10):1131–1157.
- [232] Khoramishad H, Crocombe AD, Katnam KB, Ashcroft IA. A generalised damage model for constant amplitude fatigue loading of adhesively bonded joints. International Journal of Adhesion and Adhesives 2010;30(6):513–521.
- [233] Li HCH, Beck F, Dupouy O, Herszberg I, Stoddart PR, Davis CE, et al. Strainbased health assessment of bonded composite repairs. Composite Structures 2006;76:234–242.
- [234] Jones R, Galea S. Health monitoring of composite repairs and joints using optical fibres. Composite Structures 2002;58:397–403.
- [235] Li HCH, Herszberg I, Mouritz AP. Automated characterization of structural disbonds by statistical examination of bond-line strain distribution. Structural Health Monitoring 2006;5(1):83–94.
- [236] Sekine H, Fujimoto SE, Okabe T, Takeda N, Yokobori T. Structural health monitoring of cracked aircraft panels repaired with bonded patches using fiber Bragg grating sensors. Applied Composite Materials 2006;13:87–98.
- [237] Majumder M, Gangopadhyay TK, Chakraborty AK, Dasgupta K, Bhattacharya DK. Fibre Bragg gratings in structural health monitoring—present status and applications. Sensors and Actuators A: Physical 2008;147:150–164.
- [238] Staszewski WJ, Lee BC, Mallet L, Scarpa F. Structural health monitoring using scanning laser vibrometry. Part I: Lamb wave sensing. Smart Materials and Structures 2004;13(2):251–260.
- [239] Mallet L, Lee BC, Staszewski WJ, Scarpa F. Structural health monitoring using scanning laser vibrometry. Part II: Lamb waves for damage detection. Smart Materials and Structures 2004;13(2):261–269.
- [240] White C, Li HCH, Whittingham B, Herszberg I, Mouritz AP. Damage detection in repairs using frequency response techniques. Composite Structures 2009;87:175–181.
- [241] Yam LH, Yan YJ, Jiang JS. Vibration-based damage detection for composite structures using wavelet transform and neural network identification. Composite Structures 2003;60:403–412.
- [242] Kessler SS, Spearing SM, Soutis C. Damage detection in composite materials using Lamb wave methods. Smart Materials and Structures 2002;11: 269–278.
- [243] Giurgutiu V. Tuned Lamb wave excitation and detection with piezoelectric wafer active sensors for structural health monitoring. Journal of Intelligent Material Systems and Structures 2005;16:291–305.
- [244] Croxford AJ, Wilcox PD, Drinkwater BW., Konstantinidis. Strategies for guided-wave structural health monitoring. In: Proceedings of the Royal Society A. 2007. 463 p. 2961–2981.
- [245] Wong CKW, Chiu WK, Rajic N, Galea SC. Can stress waves be used for monitoring sub-surface defects in repaired structures? Composite Structures 2006;76:199–208.
- [246] Chiu WK, Galea SC, Koss LL, Rajic N. Damage detection in bonded repairs using piezoceramics. Smart Materials and Structures 2000;9:466–475.
- [247] Pavlopoulou S, Soutis C, Manson G. Non-destructive inspection of adhesively bonded patch repairs using Lamb waves. Plastics, Rubber and Composites 2012;41(2):61–68.
- [248] Ihn JB, Chang FK. Pitch-catch active sensing methods in structural health monitoring for aircraft structures. Structural Health Monitoring 2008;7:5–19.
- [249] Wang L, Yuan FG. Group velocity and characteristic wave curves of Lamb waves in composites: modeling and experiments. Composites Science and Technology 2007;67:1370–1384.
- [250] Bloss R. Automatically building or repairing composite fibre structures. Assembly Automation 2007;27(3):202–206.